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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (“the Board”) 

of SMN Power Holding SAOG (“the Company”), I 

have the pleasure to present the annual report for 

the year ended 31 December 2016.

Throughout the year, the Health & Safety (H&S) 

performance was excellent with no Lost Time 

Accident (“LTA”) occurred, in line with previous 

years.

The Company reviews its corporate structures, 

policies and processes on a continuous basis to 

ensure that the highest standards of governance 

are adopted and implemented, in compliance with 

local and international regulatory requirements 

and principles. In 2016, the Company has paid 

particular attention to the implementation of the 

new Code of Corporate Governance issued by 

the Capital Market Authority on 22 July 2015, and 

which came into force on 21 July 2016. I invite the 

investors to refer to the Corporate Governance 

Report of this Annual Report for further 

explanation on the improvements implemented in 

2016.

Operations

During the year 2016, the commercial availability 

at Barka II Power and Water Desalination Plant 

(‘Barka II’) was 80.2% (90.9% in 2015) for power 

and 94.2% (94.2% in 2015) for water. The reduction 

in availability was due to tripping of a gas turbine 

on generator protections on 14 March 2016 and 

required repairs. 

The commercial availability of Al Rusail Power 

Plant (‘Al Rusail’) was 83.0% (87.6% in 2015). The 

reduction in availability was due to major repairs 

on two Gas Turbine Generators.

The Company has minimized the business 

interruption at both Plants caused by these 

technical issues with the quick response and 

strong focus of the operations and maintenance 

team as explained in the Operations Highlights of 

this Annual Report.

In 2016, the Company produced an aggregate 

net power volume of 3,663 GWh (4,835 GWh in 

2015) and a total volume of 38,863,000 m³ of 

potable water was delivered (43,101,000 m³ in 

2015). The decrease in power volumes in 2016 is 

mainly due to lower dispatch levels at Al Rusail 

as compared to 2015. The decrease in water 

production during 2016 is due to higher scheduled 

maintenance carried-out at Barka II as compared 

to the previous year, as approved by PAEW. The 

decrease in power and water dispatch levels does 

not impact the profitability of the Company since 

the financial performance is primarily linked to 

commercial availability.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Financial Results

SMN Power Holding & Affiliates (“SMN Power’) 

generated a consolidated net profit RO 11.8 Million 

for the year 2016 as compared to a net profit of 

RO 9.0 Million in 2015. The increase in net result 

is mostly attributable to the reduction in finance 

charges resulting from a gain on provision for site 

restoration amounting to OMR 2.6 Million. 

I invite the investors to refer to the Management 

Discussion and Analysis Report of this Annual 

Report for further explanation on the financial 

performance of the Company.

Considering the 2016 year-end retained earnings 

and the projected available cash-flow after debt 

service, the Board of Directors is recommending 

to the Shareholders a final dividend of 16 baizas 

per share for 2016 in addition to the interim 

dividend of 15 baizas paid in November 2016.

On 31 December 2016, SMN Power’s share 

price reached 712 bzs per share. Since IPO, the 

aggregate level of dividend paid amounts to 237 

bzs per share as compared to 215 bzs as projected 

in the IPO prospectus (on the basis of a nominal 

value of 100 bzs/share after the stock split).

During the Finance Summit organized by Oman 

Economic Review, the Company received an 

award for “20 Largest Listed Companies in Oman”. 

This demonstrates the financial strength and 

the importance of our Company to the Muscat 

Securities Market.

Future Outlook

All reasonable measures are taken by the 

Management of the Company to ensure excellent 

plant availability levels in 2017. 

As Chairman of the Board, I would like to thank 

our Shareholders, not only for their confidence, 

but also for their continued support and for the 

expertise they bring into the Company. The Board 

of Directors expresses its gratitude to Oman 

Power & Water Procurement Company (OPWP), 

the Authority for Electricity Regulation (AER), 

the Capital Market Authority (CMA) and other 

governmental and non-governmental bodies for 

their guidance and support. I also insist upon 

thanking all the operational staff working at Barka 

II and Al Rusail plants as well as the team at our 

corporate office for their loyalty and dedication. 

Thanks to their day to day work, the Company was 

able to achieve its objectives.

Finally, on behalf of the Board of Directors, I 

would like to extend our deep appreciation and 

gratitude to His Majesty Sultan Qaboos Bin Said 

and His Government for their continued support 

and encouragement to the private sector by 

creating an environment allowing us to contribute 

effectively to the growth of the Sultanate of Oman.

Abdullah Al Yahya’ey  

Chairman of the Board
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Health & Safety

Health and Safety (H&S) is of paramount 

importance within SMN Power Holding, its 

subsidiaries and STOMO, responsible for all 

operations and maintenance activities on site. 

In line with our “Zero Harm” policy, all incidents 

are taken very seriously, carefully analyzed and 

with support of external and internal experts, root 

causes are identified and mitigated. 

We also encourage employees to report Fresh 

Eyes Observations (giving a fresh view on regular 

activities) and Health, Safety & Environment 

Observations which both help to improve the 

working conditions and reduce the exposure to 

H&S risks.

In compliance with the OHSAS 18001 certified 

H&S management systems, regular audits, 

management reviews and site inspections are 

organized in order to ensure a professional 

monitoring of the H&S performance.

The overall H&S performance for 2016 was 

excellent with zero Lost Time Accident (“LTA”) 

occurred. SMN Barka and Al Rusail Plants 

respectively completed 3353 and 2870 days 

without LTA as on the 31 December 2016.  

Capacity

The capacity of a plant is defined as the total 

electrical power (MW) and water (cubic meter 

per day), which can be delivered by the plant at 

reference conditions.  

The contractual capacity of SMN Barka under the 

Power and Water Purchase Agreement (“PWPA”) 

for the year 2016 was 673.520 MW power and 

120,000 m³/day water. The Annual Performance 

Test demonstrated that for both, power and water, 

the plant met the contractual requirements.

The contractual capacity of Al Rusail under the 

Power Purchase Agreement (“PPA”) is 664.999 

MW power. During the Annual Performance Test, 

the Plant demonstrated its capability to meet the 

contractual capacity requirements. 

Power and Water production and load factor

In 2016, the SMN Barka Power and Desalination 

Plant exported a total of 1,851 GWh electrical 

energy, with a utilization factor of 29.9% for the 

power plant and 38,863,000 m3 of potable water 

with a utilization factor 94% for the RO desalination 

plant. Power volumes delivered by the plant over 

2016 increased compared to 2015 due to higher 

dispatch.

During the year 2016, the Al Rusail Power Plant 

exported a total of 1,812 GWh electrical energy 

with a utilization factor 31.1% for the power plant.

HIGHLIGHTS ON OPERATIONS
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Force Majeure Claim 

SMN Barka: In March 2016, there was power 

capacity loss when OETC’s Gas-Insulated 

Switchgear (GIS) initiated a trip signal to the power 

units which consequently shut down.

SMN Barka served a Force Majeure claim to 

OPWP to cover the loss of power capacity due to 

this power unit trip. OPWP is yet to approve this 

Force Majeure claim.

As per the earlier Force Majeure claims for water 

outages approved by OPWP so far, the PWPA 

period for RO plant would be extended by a total 

of 19.6 days. 

Al Rusail: There was no Force Majeure Claim 

related to power loss in Al Rusail in 2016.

Reliability: 

The reliability of the Plant is its ability to deliver 

the declared capacity, as per the P(W)PA.

In 2016, the SMN Barka reliability for power and 

water was 87.1 % and 99.2 % respectively. The 

power reliability was tempered by a forced outage 

on the gas turbine 1 (‘GT1’) generator after a stator 

flash over in March. The generator repairs were 

completed and GT1 was fully operational again 

in July. 

Al Rusail showed a reliability of 96.5 %. This 

reliability was mainly impacted by a generator 

stator failure on GT8 in January. The generator 

repairs were completed and GT8 was fully 

operational again in July.

Financial losses related to these outages were 

mitigated by compensation from our insurance 

partners. STOMO has implemented all tests and 

inspections recommended by the experts on the 

remaining generators to avoid further failures. 

Plant Efficiency (Heat Rate):

The efficiency of the power plant is measured 

in terms of the amount of thermal energy 

(gas) required to produce one unit of electrical 

energy. Demonstrated efficiency in the original 

performance test of SMN Barka was better than 

contractual requirements under the PWPA. As 

for Al Rusail, the overall heat-rate during 2016 

remained in line with 2015 results. The management 

of the company intends to implement further 

efficiency improvement measures.

SMN Barka: Water Delivered
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Maintenance and Improvements:

Maintenance of the plants was undertaken 

according to the operations and maintenance 

manuals. The gas turbines were submitted to 

scheduled inspections in accordance with the 

long term service agreements. 

SMN Barka: 

In March, a GT1 generator failure was seen and a 

rewind of the generator was carried out. During 

the rewind of the generator, a GT1 turbine major 

inspection was carried out. During the inspection, 

cracks were detected on the inner casing and 

therefore SMN Barka procured a new inner 

casing to replace the damaged one. There was no 

business interruption related to crack in the inner 

casing because the repaire and replacement 

could be manageed within the allowed outage 

budget. 

A major inspection of the GT2 is planned for 

Q1, 2017. This major activity will also include 

the repair/replacement of turbine hardware as 

deemed necessary.

Al Rusail: 

In January, an earth fault was found at the GT1 

generator rotor and a full rewind was necessary. 

Rewinding was done at site and the unit was put 

back in service in April 2016. 

During the GT8 major outage, the generator stator 

failed a test, showing weak insulation and a new 

winding had to be installed.

In October, the GT3 generator failed because 

of a rotor earth fault and a rotor rewinding was 

required. Fortunately, the rewinding could be 

organized during a planned maintenance period 

and financial impact was limited to a part of the 

rewinding costs. GT3 is expected to be back in 

service by January 2017.

EPC contract – Amicable Settlement Process:

Further to an amicable settlement with EPC 

contractor Doosan, a repair program for 14 high 

pressure pumps was agreed. 7 pumps have 

already been repaired and the remaining pumps 

will be completed by mid-2018. Discussions are 

ongoing to extend the corresponding Retention 

Money Bond, currently expiring in June 2017.

RO Expansion Project  

SMNB management is discussing with the Public 

Authority for Electricity and Water and with OPWP 

on a proposal for additional capacity (30,000 m³/

day) in the reverse osmosis plant. SMNB has 

already secured a firm offer from reputable EPC 

Contractor and is awaiting for a feedback from 

OPWP.
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In 2016, SMN Power Holding has defined a new 

policy on Corporate Social Responsibility (‘CSR’) 

which was approved by the Board of Directors on 

1 August 2016.

The Company is committed to implement CSR 

initiatives with a positive impact on Economic 

Development, Social Progress, Environmental 

Protection and Education Development.

Our vision is to enhance the future of the people in 

Oman by promoting and implementing sustainable 

solutions, unlocking opportunities while protecting 

the environment.

In 2016 the Company has initiated several activities:

Donation of furniture to Al Rahma Charity 

Association. 

A combination of desks, chairs, shelves, sofas 

were amongst the items provided (around 40 cubic 

meters) and the items were ultimately donated to 

low income families.

Recycling campaign.

The Company has partnered with Plasbin and 

Muscat Daily to introduce a recycling campaign 

at its head office. The recycling activities involve 

segregating of waste (plastic, glass, metal, 

paper, general). The Company has encouraged 

all Companies sharing the same building (E&Y 

Building) to join this initiative.

SMN is very pleased to support a start-up 

Company in this activity. Plasbin is fully owned by 

three young Omani entrepreneurs with exceptional 

passion for their country’s environment namely, 

Rashid Al Habsi, Sarhan Al Habsi and Nasser Al 

Kindi and in association with Martin Mbuta, the 

Concept Artist & Designer, conceived the Plasbin 

initiative to help clear the highly destructive plastic 

waste from their country’s precious environment.

As installed at SMN, Plasbin flagship product is 

an exclusive 5-piece plastic waste collection and 
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recycling unit and a first of its kind in the Sultanate 

of Oman to feature full waste segregation 

compartments including Plastic, Paper, Metal, 

Glass and Trash (General Waste) through which 

its spearheading a new waste segregation culture 

in Oman through numerous channels including 

Plasday, a special Plasbin-in-schools awareness 

programme.

Beach Cleaning:

SMN and STOMO employees, together with 

students, joined forces to clean the beach in 

front of Barka II and Barka III Power Plants. All 

participants spent several hours cleaning the 

beach front.

Outlook for 2017:

The Company will launch several new initiatives in 

2017 and has already identified several interesting 

projects such as renewable energy for school, 

sponsoring education initiatives and expanding the 

recycling activities to the plants.
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SMN Power Holding SAOG was incorporated on 7 May 2011. As the holding company of two power 

entities, SMN Barka and Al Rusail, the holding combines 1,343 MW of power and 120,000 m3/day potable 

water capacity.

Background:

On 2 November 2005, the Government invited proposals for the development of an Independent Water 

and Power Producer (IWPP) at Barka and the privatization of Al Rusail (Tender No 210 / 2005). In 2006, the 

Founders (Suez Tractebel S.A.; Mubadala Development Company PJSC and National Trading Company 

DESCRIPTION OF THE COMPANY
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LLC) secured the award from OPWP following a competitive bidding process. The project has been 

established under a BOO scheme. The BOO concept enables the Founders (through the operator) to 

operate the Plants beyond the project horizon of 15 years by either extending the P(W)PA (if agreed to 

by OPWP) or by selling into an electricity pool which may exist at that time. The Founders incorporated 

SMN Power Holding Company Ltd (“SMN Jafza”) for the purpose of holding the shares in both Project 

Companies and for undertaking the Project through the Project Companies. From the inception of the 

Project until the transfer to the Company, SMN Jafza held 99.99% of the shares in both project companies. 

Each of the projects developed by each of the relevant project companies has been implemented as 

follows:

For SMN Barka:

Date Events

2 November 2005         Request for Proposal issued by Tender Board

26 June 2006 Bid Submission

6 December 2006 Execution of Project Documents

20 February 2007 Financial Close

28 July 2008             Early Power COD

30 September 2008    End of Early Power period

15 November 2009 Final COD achieved

For Al Rusail:

Date Events

2 November 2005         Request for Proposal issued by Tender Board

26 June 2006 Bid Submission

6 December 2006 Execution of Project Documents

31 January 2007 Completion under SPA / Settlement Agreement

20 February 2007 Financial Close / Facilities Agreement

Description of SMN Barka Plant:

SMN Barka is an IWPP plant situated in Barka. The site is approximately 50 km northwest of Muscat, 

Oman.

Also popularly known as Barka II / Barka Phase 2, the design net rated power output of the facility in a 

combined cycle mode is 678 MW and 363 MW in open cycle. The water production capacity is about 26.4 

MIGD or 120,000 m³/day. 

The facility entered into full commercial operation on 15 November 2009 and commenced the fifteen-year 

PWPA, guaranteeing the sale of its electricity and potable water capacity and production to OPWP.
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The power plant comprises three V 94.2 Rev 6 

dual fuel combustion turbines (Siemens design 

manufactured by Ansaldo Energia, Italy), three 

supplementary fuel fired heat recovery steam 

generators and two Siemens condensing steam 

turbines, along with ancillary equipment required 

for operation of the power plant. 

The SMN Barka power plant is designed as a 

three + two configuration with three combustion 

turbines, three supplementary fired HRSGs 

and two steam turbines forming one combined 

cycle power block. The arrangement allows for 

operational flexibility as high and low pressure 

steam from any boiler can be supplied to either 

steam turbine. 

The individual V94.2 gas turbines hot exhaust 

gases directly flow into naturally circulated heat 

recovery steam generators, generating steam at 

two pressure levels: high pressure steam at 85 

bar and low pressure steam at 7 bar. The high 

pressure steam from each of the heat recovery 

steam generators is combined in a common 

header and passes to one of the two steam 

turbines as is low pressure steam.

The facility is equipped with bypass stacks 

allowing operation of each combustion turbine 

in open cycle if a boiler or steam turbine failure 

occurs and steam dumping direct to the steam 

turbine condensers is also provided. The SMN 

Barka Plant is designed for black start operation 

by means of diesel generators which are capable 

of starting the plant via connections to at least 

two gas turbines.

Desalination for water production involves a sea 

water reverse osmosis desalination plant with a 

contracted capacity of 26.4 MIGD or 5,000 m3/hour 

of water. The reverse osmosis system comprises 

of 14 trains in the first pass and 7 trains in the 

3 x 9.5 kg natural gas / sec

3 x 470m3 air / sec

3 x 1.5 kg natural gas / sec

220 kv

3 x 121MW

temp 551ºC

3 x 328 ton steam / h; 90 bar; 544ºC

Water
2 x 157MW

Power Consumption
31MW

Reverse Osmosis
remineralization

15,500m3 / h seawater

potable water; 5,000 m3 / h

seawater

132 mbara
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second pass. Unlike “natural” osmosis, which 

facilitates solvent migration so that concentrations 

are even on both sides of a membrane, reverse 

osmosis involves forcing seawater at high pressure 

through a membrane that is almost impervious to 

suspended minerals. In the end pure water is left 

on one side and highly concentrated brine on the 

other. 

Reverse osmosis provides SMN Barka the 

flexibility, in certain cases, to produce desalinated 

water even when the power production is  not 

operational, using power from the electricity grid.

The power plant operates on natural gas as 

primary fuel with fuel oil as back-up. The plant is 

connected to the gas transmission infrastructure 

owned by MOG, to the existing water transmission 

system owned and operated by PAEW and finally 

to the main interconnected transmission system 

at 220 kV which is owned by OETC. 

The auxiliary power for the Plant is derived from 

the Plant’s internal electrical system with back 

up from the grid. The equipment and facilities 

required for the operation, testing, maintenance 

and repair of the equipment (for example control 

room, laboratory, stores, workshop, etc.) are 

available at site.

SMN Barka has contracted the all operations 

and maintenance activities (“O&M”)  of the 

power station to Suez Tractebel Operations and 

Maintenance Oman (“STOMO”).

Description of Al Rusail Plant:

Al Rusail is a natural gas-fired 665 MW power 

plant, the first state-owned power generation 

company to be privatized in the Sultanate of Oman. 

In December 2006, the shareholders acquired the 

shares of Al Rusail from the Government, (through 

acquisition of 99% of the shares in Al Rusail by 

SMN Jafza).

The plant is located inland, approximately 40 km 

west of Muscat in an industrial area. It consists 

of eight Frame 9E gas turbines installed in four 

phases between 1984 and 2000. Al Rusail’s 

primary fuel is natural gas supplied by MOG, 

but diesel oil is also stored on site to serve as a 

backup fuel. Power capacity and production are 

sold to the OPWP under the 17-year PPA ending 

in March 2022.  

8 x 400m3  air / sec

8 x 7 kg natural gas / sec

6 x 80MW
2 x 93MW

132 kV
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The combustion turbines are laid out side by 

side. An overhead travelling crane can access 

all turbines for maintenance purposes. The 

generating equipment is outdoor type with the 

132 kV Gas Insulated Switchgear (GIS) housed 

in brick buildings.  Underground cable circuits 

run from the generator step-up transformers 

to the 132 kV switchgear and then by overhead 

line to the system at the northern and southern 

site boundaries.  The control room, management 

offices and administration are housed in one 

building adjacent to the gatehouse.  Spares are 

housed in a separate building on the site. The 

Plant is connected to the main interconnected 

transmission system at 132 kV. 

Al Rusail has contracted all O&M activities at the 

power plant to STOMO.

Combustion turbines

The combustion turbines are all the same frame 

size but have been provided by different suppliers 

at different times.  The EPC Contractors who built 

Al Rusail units prior to the privatization were MJB 

/ GE / Alstom / BHEL, recognized as some of the 

world’s leading suppliers of systems, components 

and services in the generation, transmission and 

distribution of power. The units at Al Rusail were 

installed in four phases between 1984 and 2000: 

– Phase I consists of GTs 1, 2 and 3 the first being 

commissioned in 1984.

– Phase II consists of GTs 4, 5 and 6 the first 

being commissioned in 1987.

– Phase III consists of GT 7 commissioned in 

1997.

– Phase IV consists of GT 8 commissioned in 

2000.

As a result of technology advances over time, 

the machines have different firing temperatures 

and spares are therefore not necessarily 

interchangeable between units.

Generators

Generators for GTs 1 to 6 are of Brush (UK) 

manufacture, for GT 7, Alstom (France) and GT 

8, BHEL (India).  The generators are rated at 0.8 

power factor And the terminal voltages are 11 kV, 

11.5 kV, 14 kV and 15 kV.  The associated AVRs 

have a voltage range of ±15 per cent, which is 

used to regulate the reactive power output of 

each generator. 

Generator transformers

GTs 1 to 3 transformers are Bonar Long (UK) 

manufacture, GTs 4 to 6 Nuova di Legano (Italy), 

GT 7 i Crompton Greaves (UK) and GT 8 BHEL 

(India).   Following the failure of GT2 transformer 

in July 2012, it was replaced with a new ABB make 

transformer. 

132 kV switchgear

The 132 kV SF6 switchgear comprises two (2) 

phases, phase 1 being of GEC (UK) manufacture 

(12 bays), whilst phase 2 is of Merlin Gerin (France) 

manufacture, DHT7 (13 bays).  

Al Rusail has an excess capacity of 10 MW.

The Initial Public Offering (IPO)

The Project Founders’ Agreement (“PFA”) 

requires that the Founders float 35% of the 

shares in the Project Companies on the MSM 

through an IPO. It was envisaged that an Omani 

SAOG was to be established for the purposes 

of fulfilling the obligation to undertake an IPO, 

which SMN Jafza could not satisfy since it is a 

JAFZA company incorporated in the United Arab 

Emirates. Following the incorporation of the 

Omani SAOG, the Founders were to ensure that 

all of the rights, title and interests of SMN Jafza 

are simultaneously transferred to the Omani 

SAOG and all of the obligations and liabilities of 

SMN Jafza are be simultaneously assumed by 

the Omani SAOG. It was agreed in October 2010 

between the Founders to allow for a two-step 

approach comprising (i) the incorporation of an 
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SAOC and (ii) the transformation of the SAOC into 

an SAOG at the time of the IPO and the Electricity 

Holding Company approved the agreement. 

In accordance with the amended and restated 

PFA the Shareholders incorporated SMN Power 

Holding SAOC in May 2011. Pursuant to (i) a share 

sale and subscription agreement dated 9 August 

2011 and entered into between the Company 

and SMN Jafza; and (ii) the Deed of Novation, all 

of the rights, title and interests of SMN Jafza in 

the two Project Companies (including the shares 

in the Project Companies and rights under the 

ECL’s) were transferred to the Company for the 

purpose of offering 35% of the share capital of the 

Company to the public through an IPO at which 

time the Company has been converted from an 

SAOC to an SAOG. Without any specific purpose 

anymore and in compliance with the transaction 

agreements, SMN Jafza has been liquidated in 

2014 without any impact on SMN Power Holding 

SAOG.

On 2 May 2012, Mubadala Power Holding Company 

Limited acquired a stake of 10.875% (2,171,037 

Shares) in the Company from MDC Industry 

Holding Company LLC.  With this acquisition, 

the stake of Mubadala Power Holding Company 

Limited has increased to 30.875%.  Both the seller 

and purchaser are ultimately owned by Mubadala 

Development Company PJSC. Mubadala Power 

Holding Company Limited received the approval 

of the Capital Market Authority on 4 April 2012 to 

increase its stake in the Company up to 30.875%.

The IPO of SMN Power Holding, the only IPO in 

Oman in 2011 and one of the very few in the region 

that year, attracted strong interest from investors 

and the issue collected RO 40.9 million against 

the target size of RO 24.6 million. Accordingly, the 

issue was subscribed 1.7 times. Following the IPO, 

35% of the shares of SMN Power have been listed 

since 23 October 2011 on the Muscat Securities 

Market.

Pre IPO Post IPO

Kahrabel 47.5%

Mubadala Power
Holding 36.625%

MDC Industrial
Holding 10.875%

National Trading Co. 5%

Public 35%

Kahrabel 30.875%

Mubadala Power
Holding 30.875%

National Trading Co. 3.25%

For information, during the year 2015, National 

Trading Company fully divested its stake in the 

Company.

On 31 December 2016, SMN Power’s share 

price reached 712 bzs per share. Since IPO, the 

aggregate level of dividend paid amounts to 237 

bzs per share  compared to 215 bzs as projected 

in the IPO prospectus (on the basis of a nominal 

value of 100 bzs/share after the stock split).
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Kahrabel F.Z.E. 

Kahrabel oversees and manages the development, 
construction and operation of the electricity and 
waterproduction business of ENGIE (formerly GDF 
SUEZ) in the MENA region. It is an entity 100% 
owned directly by International Power S.A., which 
is itself indirectly wholly owned by International 
Power Ltd. International Power Ltd. is owned 
indirectly by ENGIE, one of the world’s leading 
energy companies and a global benchmark in the 
fields of power, gas, and energy services. 

ENGIE is active throughout the entire energy value 
chain, in electricity and natural gas, upstream 
to downstream. It employs close to 155,000 
people worldwide and achieved revenues of 69.9 
billion in 2015. The Group is listed on the Paris, 
Brussels and Luxembourg stock exchanges and 
is represented in the main international indices: 
CAC 40, BEL 20, DJ Euro Stoxx 50, Euronext 100, 
FTSE Eurotop 100, MSCI Europe, ASPI Eurozone, 
Euronext Vigeo Eurozone 120, Vigeo World 120, 
Vigeo Europe 120 and Vigeo France 20.

For more information about ENGIE, please visit 
www.engie.com

Mubadala Power Holding Company:

Mubadala Power Holding Company Limited 
is a wholly owned subsidiary of Mubadala 
Development Company PJSC (Mubadala), a 
registered public joint stock company in the 
Emirate of Abu Dhabi.

Established and owned by the Government of Abu 
Dhabi, Mubadala’s strategy is built on the creation 
of partnerships and on long-term, capital-intensive 
investments that deliver strong financial returns, 
contribute to the growth and diversification of Abu 
Dhabi’s economy, and create opportunities for 
current and future generations in the United Arab 
Emirates.

Mubadala brings together and manages a multi-
billion dollar portfolio of local, regional and 
international investments and partners with leading 

global organizations to operate businesses across 
a wide range of industry sectors. These include 
aerospace, semiconductors, metals & mining, oil 
& gas, renewables, information & communications 
technology, healthcare, real estate & infrastructure, 
utilities, and defense services. 

For more information about Mubadala please visit 
www.mubadala.com

National Trading Company LLC 

National Trading Company, which was founded 
in 1982 with a capital of RO 210,000, serves as 
a holding group for investment and project 
development. The capital was later increased to 
RO 1 million. The owners of NTC are HH Haitham 
bin Tarik Al-Said and Antonios Chatzi Georgiou.

Focusing on the development of Oman, the National 
Trading Company establishes corporations to 
facilitate projects and develop industries as a 
diversified group. The corporations are engaged 
in activities such as power generation, harvesting 
of fish, travel, security equipment, oil & gas, 
printing & electronics and providing contracting 
services. Other corporations supported by the 
National Trading Company produces chemicals 
and procure raw materials. The established areas 
of operation are construction and contracting, 
engineering and business promotion. 

Associated/subsidiary companies consist of Gulf 
of Oman Fishing International LLC, Al Madina 
Development & Supply LLC, Security Printing 
Press LLC, Falcon Insurance SAOC, National 
Trading & Projects Company LLC, Oryx Metal 
Industries LLC, Sita & Al Bashaer Environment 
LLC, Gulf Construction Products LLC, 4 Trust LLC, 
WDS Middle East LLC.

For information, during the year 2016, National 
Trading Company fully divested its stake in the 
Company.

Further information about NTC is available at: 
http://ntc.om/

PROFILE OF THE FOUNDERS
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The Business Model

The business model of both project companies 

held by SMN Power Holding SAOG, i.e. SMN Barka 

Power Company SAOC and Al Rusail Power 

Company SAOC, is based on a strong contractual 

framework, with solid and reliable partners. Back-

to-back contracts significantly reduce the risks 

over a long-term period. The supply of the output 

to the off-taker OPWP, the gas supply from MOG, 

the operation and maintenance of the plants by the 

operator STOMO and the financing of the project, 

are all guaranteed over a long-term period of 15 

years for SMN Barka and 17 years for Al Rusail.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION  
AND ANALYSIS REPORT

Over this 15-year period (17 years for Al Rusail), 

ending in March 2022 for Al Rusail and March 

2024 for SMN Barka, the project companies are 

remunerated for their capacity and availability. 

Their profitability and ability to generate cash 

flows are independent of market fluctuation, 

commodity prices and market demand throughout 

the PWPA term. 

The plants are operated and maintained under 

the terms of the O&M agreement with STOMO. 

The highest standards in terms of health, safety 

and operational excellence are applied, to ensure 

availability and efficiency.

Interest rates volatility and impact on the financing 

expenses are mitigated through adequate hedging 

policies, in line with the requirements defined by 

the lenders in the Facility Agreements. 
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Finally, the Company is benefiting from the strong track records of its original founders, reflected in the high 

level of experience of the Board of Directors, bringing significant value to both projects.

Financial Highlights

All figures in RO ‘000 2016 2015 Variance

Total Revenues 87,995 109,539 -21,544

Net Profit 11,758 9,020 +2,738

Total Assets 236,478 248,624 -12,146

Total Shareholders’ Fund 36,650 32,279 +4,371

Paid-up Capital 19,964 19,964 -

Hedging Deficit (11,068) (15,095) -4,027

Key financial Indicators 2016 2015 Variance

Return on Total Assets 4.97% 3.63% +1.34%

Net Profit to Revenue 13.36% 8.23% +5.13%

Debt : Equity Ratio 82.8 : 17.2 85.5 : 14.5 -

Ordinary Dividend (incl. final dividend for 
2016)

31 bzs /share

(Nominal value 
RO 0.100 / share)

44.0 bzs / share

(Nominal value 
RO 0.100 / share)

-13 bzs / share

(Nominal value 
RO 0.100 / share)

Analysis of the Profit & Loss 

Total Revenues decreased significantly by  

RO 21.5 Million (-20%) to RO 88.0 Million. Total 

Revenues include variable revenues (Fuel Charge 

and Variable Operating & Maintenance Charge) 

and fixed revenues (Fixed Capacity Fees). 

i. The decrease in variable revenues (RO -20.7 

Million) is due to the overall lower dispatch 

of the plants by the authorities. Increase 

/ decrease in variable revenues does not 

impact Gross Profit which is mostly generated 

by the Fixed Capacity Fees. In practice, the 

decrease in variable revenues is mostly 

offset by the decrease in variable costs for 

an equivalent amount.

 The reduction in variable operating and 

maintenance charge is in line with the lower 

power and water dispatch levels in 2016. 

The total power production was GWh 3,663 

in 2016 (GWh -1,172) and potable water 

production was 38,863 thousand m³ in 2016 

(-4,238 thousand m³). 

ii. The decrease in finance lease income 

(RO -0.6 Million) is consistent with the 

repayment of finance lease principal at  

Al Rusail.

iii. The decrease in Fixed Capacity Fees 

(RO -0.3 Million) is mainly due to the higher 

level of business interruption in 2016 

compared to prior year. The major repairs 

were caused by the failure of a gas turbine 

generator at Barka II and two gas turbine 

generators at Al Rusail. The Company has 

contained the business interruption caused 

by these technical issues with the quick 

response and strong focus of the operations 

and maintenance team and has involved the 

insurers at every step of the repair process. 

The cost impact has hence been partially 

mitigated through insurance proceeds. 
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The consolidated net result for the period ended 

31 December 2016 amounts to RO 11.8 Million. The 

consolidated net result in 2016 improved by RO 

2.7 Million as compared to 2015.

i. The favorable variances are due to the  

following factors:

- The main upside movement is due to 

a gain on re-assessment of the asset 

retirement obligation for both plants  

(RO +2.6 Million) performed in accordance 

with company’s accounting policies and 

for the purspose of the statutory audit. 

This accounting gain improves the retained 

earnings but does not have any impact on 

the cash position of the Company.

- Lower financing costs (RO +0.4 Million) 

following the scheduled repayments 

of the facilities for the two project 

companies.

- Other positive items (for a total of  

RO +0.5 Million) include a tighter control 

on general and administrative expenses, 

lower depreciation and insurance low 

claim bonus on prior years. 

ii. The unfavorable variances are mainly due to 

the following factors:

- Reduced power margin (RO -0.3 Million) 

due to the higher level of business 

interruption losses at both plants as 

explained above.

- Lower finance lease interest income at 

Al Rusail (RO -0.2 Million) in line with the 

repayment of the finance lease principal. 

- Higher tax expense in due to higher  

taxable profit (RO -0.3 Million).

Analysis of the Balance Sheet

The total consolidated assets amount to RO 236.5 

Million as at 31 December 2016.

Main balance sheet movements were driven 

by the depreciation of the plant (fixed assets), 

receipts of the finance lease, re-assessment of 

site restoration provision and the payment of the 

senior debt installment and interests as scheduled.

The hedging reserve, net of deferred tax, is 

negative by RO -11.1 Million by end of 2016.  The 

positive variance (RO +4.0 Million) with respect to 

last year balance (RO -15.1 Million) results from 

the scheduled repayments over the year and the 

increase in forward interest rates. As per IAS 

39, the fair value of financial instruments has to 

be calculated at each balance sheet date. Such 

deficit represents the lack of opportunity for the 

future would the Company have not been hedged 

at the inception of the project and exposed to 

interest rate volatility. Considering the obligations 

defined in the Facility Agreements, the Company 

however is not allowed to be fully exposed 

to market volatility. Such deficit does neither 

impact the future profitability of the Company 

nor its capability to distribute dividends to the 

shareholders.

The Company repaid installments of its long-

term loans in accordance with the contractual 

repayment schedule. The Company is pleased to 

announce that it met all its obligations under its 

bank covenants.

Dispute with the EPC Contractor

SMN Barka Power Company declared the Project 

Commercial Operation Date (“PCOD”) on 15 

November 2009, against an originally scheduled 

date of 1 April 2009. Operational and timing issues 

caused a major dispute between SMN Barka and 

the EPC Contractor Doosan Heavy Industries & 

Construction.

An amicable dispute resolution process was 

initiated with the EPC Contractor, Doosan, in March 

2010 and in May 2012, the final agreement settled 

all outstanding disputes, including some additional 

corrections and warranties by the EPC Contractor. 
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By end of 2013, all conditions defined in the 

settlement agreement were completed by Doosan 

with the exception of the remediation for the High 

Pressure Pumps leaks and crevice corrosion. 

As a result, a second settlement agreement 

was reached with the EPC Contractor in October 

2013 defining the remediation plan, extension of 

the warranty period for those equipment and 

extension of the 4 MUSD Retention Money Bond 

up to June 2017. The repair and replacement 

is ongoing and will likely be completed in 2018 

hence the Company has started discussions with 

Doosan for the extension of the Retention Bond. 

Omanisation

The Ministry of Manpower has issued a Ministerial 

Decision No 248/2014 (the “MD”), published in 

the Official Gazette on 14 September 2014, and 

effective on the day following its publication, 

by means of which the Ministry has revised the 

Omanisation percentage to be achieved in private 

sector enterprises operating in the electricity and 

water sectors. 

Omanisation is a principle the Company 

embraced and is implementing since its inception. 

The MD does not impair this approach and has 

only triggered adjustments to the Omanisation 

strategy. This new strategy is, among others, 

built around a revised succession plan, a broader 

internship program, opportunities to expose Omani 

employees to assignments outside the Sultanate 

of Oman, while maintaining opportunities of 

experience and expertise transfer amongst the 

employees. 

Outlook for 2017

The Management of the Company remains 

confident for 2017, thanks to the robustness of the 

power sector in the Sultanate of Oman and the 

business model of the Company based on back-

to-back long-term contracts. 

Management however anticipates additional 

maintenance costs at both plants during 2017 to 

be able to maintain the overall reliability of the 

Units. This should not impair the overall results of 

SMN Power Holding SAOG.

In line with the financing arrangements 

communicated during the IPO, the cash 

sweep mandatory prepayment commenced in 

September 2016 for Al Rusail Power Company. 

As a consequence, the excess cash generated by 

Al Rusail beyond October 2016 are paid to the 

lenders and no longer flow to the Shareholders. 

This mechanism has a limited impact on the 

dividend distribution at Group level as most of the 

dividends are generated by SMN Barka.

Internal control systems

The Management believes in a strong internal 

control system. Control environment has 

been further reinforced over the year 2016 by 

continuously enhancing the organization of the 

Company and further implementing policies and 

procedures in line with the new code of corporate 

governance. 

The Audit Committee was pleased about the 

progress achieved over the year and satisfied with 

the Internal Audit organization of the Company 

combining the efforts of the in-house Internal 

Auditor with the expertise of Moore Stephens.



REPORT OF FACTUAL FINDINGS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SMN POWER COMPANY SAOG

1. We have performed the procedures agreed with you pursuant to the Capital Market Authority (CMA) 

circular no.E/4/2015, dated 22 July 2015, with respect to the Board of Directors’ corporate governance 

report of SMN Power Company SAOG (the company) as at and for the year ended 31 December 2016 

and application of the corporate governance practices in accordance with amendments to CMA Code 

of Corporate Governance issued under circular no.E/10/2016 dated 1 December 2016 (collectively the 

‘Code’).  

2. Our engagement was undertaken in accordance with the International Standard on Related Services 

4400 applicable to agreed-upon procedures engagements. The procedures were performed solely to 

assist you in complying with the requirement of the Code issued by the CMA.

3. We have performed the following procedures: 

a) We have checked that the corporate governance report issued by the Board of Directors includes 

as a minimum, all items suggested by CMA to be covered by the report as detailed in the Annexure 

3 of the Code by comparing the report with such suggested content in the Annexure 3; and

b) We obtained the detailed list of areas of non-compliance identified by the company’s Board of 

Directors with the Code, included in the report together with the reasons for such non-compliance 

and agreed these to the discussions in the Board minutes or/and a checklist prepared by the Board 

of Directors to identify any non-compliance. 

4. As a result of performing the above procedures, we have no exceptions to report other than those 

disclosed in the corporate governance report of the company for the year ended 31 December 2016.

5. Because the above procedures do not constitute either an audit or a review made in accordance with 

International Standards on Auditing or International Standards on Review Engagements, we do not 

express any assurance on the accompanying corporate governance report.

6. Had we performed additional procedures or had we performed an audit or a review in accordance with 

International Standards on Auditing or International Standards on Review Engagements, other matters 

might have come to our attention that would have been reported to you.

7. Our report is solely for the purpose set forth in the first paragraph of this report and for your information 

and is not to be used for any other purpose. This report relates only to the Board of Directors’ 

corporate governance report included in its annual report for the year ended 31 December 2016 and 

does not extend to any financial statements of SMN Power Holding SAOG taken as a whole.
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In accordance with the Code of Corporate 

Governance for Public Listed Companies (“the 

Code”) issued in July 2015 and updated in 

December 2016 by the Capital Market Authority 

(CMA), the Board and Management of SMN Power 

Holding SAOG (“SMN Power” or “the Company”) 

present their Corporate Governance Report for 

the year ended 31 December 2016.

Company’s Philosophy

The Company’s Corporate Governance philosophy 

is based on three main components: shareholders’ 

value enhancement and transparency towards 

internal and external stakeholders, strict 

observance of laws, permits and regulations 

and display of the highest ethical standards in 

conducting its business. 

The composition of the Board of Directors is 

designed to ensure its independence that will, 

in turn, ensure an effective discharge of its 

responsibilities. Similarly, the Audit Committee is 

composed of three non-executive directors with a 

high level of expertise in financial matters.

Management’s ongoing review of corporate 

structures, policies and processes ensures that the 

highest standards are adopted and implemented, 

consistent with local and international governance 

requirements and principles.

In 2016, the Company has paid particular attention 

to the implementation of the New Code of 

Corporate Governance issued by the Capital 

Market Authority on 22 July 2015 and entered into 

force on 21 July 2016.

The Company has embraced the rules and 

practices issued by the New Code by which 

the Board of Directors of a Company ensures 

accountability, fairness, and transparency in a 

company’s relationship with all its stakeholders 

(shareholders, management, employees, lenders, 

customers, suppliers and the community).

The Company has updated its existing policies 

and developed new policies to take into account 

the requirements of the New Code of Corporate 

Governance:

- Board of Directors Governance and Policies,

- Procedures, Rules and Guidelines on 

Disclosure,

- Board Induction Policy,

- Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Terms of Reference,

- Directors Communication Policy,

- Corporate Social Responsibility Policy,

- Rules for Related Party Transactions. 

The amended or new policies have all been 

approved by the Board on 1 August 2016.

The Company has drafted a new policy related to 

the Code for Ethics and Professional Conduct for 

Directors and Executive Management. The policy 

will be reviewed by the Board and approved at 

the next Board Meeting to be held on 23 February 

2017.

The Directors also attended a training on the New 

Code of Corporate Governance on 1 August 2016. 

The training was delivered by AMJ and provided 

each Director with a better understanding of the 

new requirements.

The Company has formed a Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee (NRC) as outlined in the 

next chapter.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is composed of seven non-executive members.

Details of composition and attendance of Board Members for Board Meetings during 2016: 

Name of 
Directors

Category of
Directors (cl 
assification 
according to the 
previous Code 
of Corporate 
Governance)

Category of Directors 
(classification 
according to the 
new criteria set 
by the New Code 
of Corporate 
Governance)

24 
Feb

9 
May

1   
Aug

23   
Oct

Total AGM

Mr. Johan Van 
Kerrebroeck
(Chairman) 

Kahrabel Juristic 
Person– Chairman 
for the Meeting

Non-Executive 
& Non-Independent
Nominee

ü ü 2

Mr. Jean Rappe Kahrabel Juristic 
Person– Chairman 
for the Meeting

Kahrabel Juristic 
Person – Chairman 
for the Meeting

ü ü 2

Dr. Abdullah Al 
Yahya’ey 
(Vice-Chairman)

Non-Executive 
& Independent

Non-Executive 
& Non- Independent

ü ü ü ü 4 ü

Mr. Antonios 
Chatzi Georgiou

Non-Executive 
& Independent
Nominee

Non-Executive 
& Non- Independent

ü ü ü ü 4 ü

Mr. Ahmed Saud 
Said Al Zakwany 

Non-Executive 
& Independent
Nominee

Non-Executive 
& Non- Independent

ü ü ü ü 4

Mr. Mohammed  
Al Huraimel Al 
Shamsi (*)

Non-Executive 
& Independent

Non-Executive 
& Non- Independent

ü ü 2

Mr. Imran Sheikh Non-Executive 
& Independent

Non-Executive 
& Non- Independent

ü ü ü ü 4

Ms. Fatima 
Faheemi (**)

Non-Executive 
& Independent

Non-Executive 
& Non- Independent

ü ü 2

Mr. Ahmad 
Dokmak

Non-Executive 
& Independent

Non-Executive 
& Non- Independent

ü ü ü ü 4

(*) Resigned during the year     (**) Appointed during the year

On 24 February 2016, to fill the vacancy resulting from the resignation of Mr. Alan Robinson, the Board 

unanimously resolved to appoint Mr. Ahmad Dokmak as new temporary director until the next Ordinary 

Annual General Meeting of the Company. During the Ordinary General Meeting held on 31 March 2016, 

Mr. Ahmad Dokmak was elected Permanent Director of the Company.

On 20 July 2016, to fill the vacancy resulting from the resignation of Mr. Mohammed Al Huraimel Al 

Shamsi, the Board appointed Ms. Fatima Faheemi as a temporary director of the Board, pursuant to 

Article 98 of the Commercial Companies Law (Royal Decree No 4/74, as amended). Ms. Faheemi shall 

hold office until the next Ordinary General Meeting of the Company to be held on 28 March 2017.

For two specific Board Meetings (24 February and 9 May), Kahrabel FZE, Founder and Shareholder of 

SMN Power Holding SAOG, appointed Mr. Jean Rappe to represent Kahrabel in the Board of Directors.
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The nominee, Mr. Jean Rappe, was authorized to 

attend and vote on behalf of Kahrabel FZE. The 

Board of Directors appointed Mr. Jean Rappe as 

Chairman for the specific Board Meetings held on 

24 February and 9 May.

Clarification regarding the requirement of  

Independent Director:

According to the criteria defined by the previous Code 

of Corporate Governance, the Board was composed 

of 6 Independent Directors and 1 Non-Independent 

Director, hence meeting the requirement of a 

minimum of 1/3 of Independent Director.

According to the new criteria defined by the New 

Code of Corporate Governance (Eighth Principle: 

Independent Director), the Board is composed 

of only 2 Independent Directors. The full re-

election of the Board will take place at the next 

Ordinary Annual General Meeting to be held on 

28 March 2017. This process is consistent with 

the clarification Nr 20.2 provided in the Circular 

E/10/2016 issued by CMA on 1 December 2016.

Directorship / membership in other public Companies (SAOG) in Oman held during the year:

Name of Directors Position held Name of the Company

Mr. Johan Van Kerrebroeck None -

Dr. Abdullah Al Yahya’ey None -

Mr. Antonios Chatzi Georgiou None -

Mr. Ahmed Saud Said Al Zakwany None -

Mr. Mohammed  Al Huraimel Al Shamsi None -

Mr. Imran Sheikh None -

Ms. Fatima Faheemi None -

Mr. Ahmad Dokmak None -

The profiles of the Directors and senior 

management team are included as an annexure 

to the Corporate Governance report.

The Audit Committee

The primary purpose of the Audit Committee is 

to serve as an independent and objective party 

to monitor the Company’s financial reporting 

process and internal control system and to review 

and appraise the audit efforts of the Company’s 

statutory auditors to the Board.

The Audit Committee comprises of 3 Directors 

appointed by the Board and meets at least 4 times 

annually, reporting to the Board of Directors.

All members of the Audit Committee are non-

executive. 

The Audit Committee’s primary duties and 

responsibilities are to assist the Board in the  

oversight of:

- The integrity of the parent and consolidated  

financial statements of the Company. 

- The integrity of the Company’s auditing,  

accounting and financial reporting processes.

- The compliance by the Company with legal  

and regulatory requirements.

Consistent with the above responsibilities, the 

Audit Committee encourages management to 

engage in continuous improvement of, and foster 

adherence to, the Company’s policies, procedures 

and practices at all levels. The Committee 

provides an open channel of communication 

between the external auditors, financial and other 

senior management, and the Board.



30 | Annual Report 2016 

The Audit Committee charter has been approved 

by the Board of Directors and is in line the Tenth 

principle of  the Code of Corporate Governance. 

Following the resignation of Mr. Mohammed Al 

Huraimel Al Shamsi, it was resolved on 20 July 

2016 to appoint Ms. Fatima Faheemi as Chairman 

of the Audit Committee of the Company. 

On a yearly basis around the month of October, 

the Audit Committee defines its working plan 

for the coming year. The working plan is placed 

before the Board of Directors of the Company for 

approval. The 2016 Audit Committee working plan 

was approved by the Board of Directors held on 

5 November 2015. Similarly the Audit Committee 

held on 23 October 2016 approved the 2017 Audit 

plan.

Composition of the Audit Committee and attendance since the incorporation of the Company:

Name of Committee 

Members
Position

Meetings held and attended during 2016

24 Feb 9 May 1 Aug 23 Oct TOTAL

Mr. Mohammed Al 

Huraimel Al Shamsi (*)
Chairman ü ü - - 2

Ms. Fatima Faheemi  (**) Chairperson - - ü ü 2

Mr. Imran Sheikh Vice-Chairman ü ü ü ü 4

Mr. Johan Van Kerrebroeck Member ü ü ü ü 4

(*) Resigned during the year     (**) Appointed during the year

On 20 July 2016, Ms. Fatima Faheemi was 

appointed as Chairperson of the Audit Committee 

following the resignation of Mr. Mohammed Al 

Huraimel Al Shamsi.

Nomination & Remuneration Committee

The primary purpose of the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee (“NRC”)  is to assist 

the general meeting in the nomination of 

proficient and high caliber directors, to prepare 

job descriptions of the directors including the 

Chairperson of the Board, to develop a succession 

plan for the Board or at least the Chairperson and 

executive management and to propose a proper 

remuneration and incentives policy to attract 

competent executive management.

The NRC comprises of 3 Directors appointed by 

the Board and meets at least 2 times annually, 

reporting to the Board of Directors.

All members of the NRC are non-executive. 

Name of NRC Members Position
Meetings held and attended during 2016

22 Oct TOTAL

Mr. Ahmed Al Zakwany Chairman ü 1

Dr. Abdullah Al Yahya’ey Member ü 1

Mr. Imran Sheikh Member ü 1
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The NRC members prepared the following working 

plan for 2017: 

- A succession plan for the Board of Directors: 

In preparation of the full re-election of the 

Board in March 2017, the NRC members will 

review all proposed nomination forms for 

new directors. In particular, the NRC will take 

into consideration the new Ministerial Decree 

201/2016 preventing a Director to sit on the 

Board of two Companies within the same 

industry sector.

- Assessment by a Third Party of the  

performance of the Directors. 

- A succession plan for the Executive  

Management (CEO and CFO).

Process of Nomination of the Directors

Directors are selected as per the Articles of 

Association of the Company at the Annual 

General Meeting (AGM). The process calls for any 

individual or registered shareholders to file their 

nominations, for the post of directors in prescribed 

form as stipulated by the Capital Market Authority 

(CMA). The nomination files are scrutinized as 

prescribed by the CMA guidelines before being 

accepted.  Elections are held by ballot at the AGM.

Pursuant to the terms of Article 95 of the 

Commercial Companies Law No 4/1974 as 

translated into Clause 25 of SMN Power Articles 

of Association, the tenure of the members of the 

Board shall be for three years, subject to re-

election where a year for these purposes is the 

period between two annual general meetings or, if 

a member of the Board is appointed other than at 

an annual general meeting, the period between his 

or her appointment and the next annual general 

meeting. As a consequence, full re-election of 

the Board of Directors of the Company will be 

organized for a new term at the Coming Annual 

General Meeting in March 2017.

Remuneration Matters

a) Directors – Remuneration / Attendance Fee

As per Article No. 42 of Articles of Association 

and administrative decision 11/2005 issued by 

CMA, the Company was entitled to pay directors’ 

remuneration, sitting fees and sub-committee 

sitting fees equivalent to 5% of calculated net profit.

During the Board meeting held on 31 October 2011, 

the Board of Directors has approved sitting fees 

of RO 400 for the Board of Directors and RO 200 

respectively for the Audit Committee, effective 

as from 2012. The sitting fees are payable to the 

Board members and Audit Committee members 

for attending the Board meeting and Audit 

Committee meeting respectively either in person 

or over phone/video conference.

Sitting fees for the year 2016 due to the Directors 

attending Boards of Directors and Audit 

Committees amount to RO 10,800. 

The sitting fee of RO 200 for the members of 

the Nomination & Remuneration Committee is 

proposed by the Board and is subject to approval 

by the shareholders in the next general meeting.

No further remuneration was paid to Directors.

b) Top Officers of the Company

The company only includes 3 Top Officers who are 

approved by the board (as per the constitutional 

documents of the Company) namely CEO, CFO 

and Company Secretary.

The Top Officers were paid an aggregated amount 

of RO 217,615 which includes management fees, 

salaries and performance related discretionary 

bonuses. The remuneration paid is commensurate 

with the qualification, role, responsibility and 

performance of the executives during the year 

2016. 
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Details of Non Compliance by the Company

As explained above, according to the criteria 

defined by the previous Code of Corporate 

Governance, the Board was composed of 6 

Independent Directors and 1 Non-Independent 

Director, hence meeting the requirement of a 

minimum of 1/3 of Independent Director.

According the new criteria defined by the New 

Code of Corporate Governance (Eighth Principle: 

Independent Director), the Board is composed 

of only 2 Independent Directors. The Company 

will remedy to this situation during the full re-

election of the Board at the next Ordinary Annual 

General Meeting to be held on 28 March 2017. This 

process is consistent with the clarification Nr 20.2 

provided in the Circular E/10/2016 issued by CMA 

on 1 December 2016.

According to the new Code of Corporate 

Governance (Seventh Principle: Professional 

conduct of Directors and Executives), the chief 

executive officer of a public joint stock company 

cannot assume the role of the chief executive 

officer of a subsidiary company simultaneously. 

In 2016 the CEO of SMN Power Holding assumed 

the role of CEO of the subsidiaries SMN Barka and 

Al Rusail. Since inception of the Company, SMN 

Power Holding was created to acquire Al Rusail 

Power Company and be awarded SMN Barka II 

Power and Desalination Project.

The Company has been liaising with CMA to 

explain that the SMN Power Holding and Affiliates 

operate as one Company. Both project Companies 

do not compete with each other. For the benefit of 

the Group and its Shareholders, the Company has 

proposed to keep one single CEO.

However in the case this structure is not accepted 

by CMA (through a waiver), the Company will 

propose a new structure to the Board and to 

the AGM to comply with this requirement by 

appointing another CEO (or General Manager) for 

Al Rusail and SMN Barka.

There were no penalties or strictures imposed on 

the Company by CMA, MSM or any other statutory 

authority on any matter related to capital markets 

during the last three years.

Means of Communication with Shareholders 

and Investors

The Company communicates its financial results 

and material information by uploading the same on 

the MSM website. The Company is committed to 

publishing its quarterly unaudited financial results 

and annual audited results in two newspapers, 

English and Arabic. The annual accounts and 

the Directors’ report are dispatched to all the 

shareholders by mail as required by law and 

are also available at the Company’s Head Office. 

The Company discloses its initial and unaudited 

financial results by uploading the same on the 

MSM website. The Company is available to meet 

its shareholders and their analysts as and when 

needed.

The SMN Power has a website at www.smnpower.

com and the financial results are posted when 

required. 

The Management Discussions and Analysis 

Report appended to this report assure fair 

presentation of the affairs of the Company.
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Market Price Data

The Company was listed on the Muscat Securities Market as from 23 October 2011.

The monthly high/low prices of the Company shares over the year 2016 are as shown below.

Month High Low Average MSM 30 Index

January 2016 0.740 0.740 0.740 5,179.36

February 2016 0.736 0.736 0.736 5,395.11

March 2016 0.732 0.732 0.732 5,467.42

April 2016 0.716 0.716 0.716 5,942.72

May 2016 0.716 0.716 0.716 5,810.96

June 2016 0.716 0.716 0.716 5,777.31

July 2016 0.704 0.704 0.704 5,843.78

August 2016 0.704 0.704 0.704 5,735.00

September 2016 0.712 0.712 0.712 5,726.20

October 2016 0.712 0.712 0.712 5,481.44

November 2016 0.712 0.712 0.712 5,487.68

December 2016 0.712 0.712 0.712 5,782.71

During the AGM held on 31 March 2016, the 

Shareholders approved the declaration of a final 

cash dividend of 22.0% or 22 bzs per share to all 

shareholders who were registered in the Company 

Shareholders’ register with Muscat Clearance & 

Depository Company SAOC on 1 May 2016. The 

final dividend was paid early May 2016.

The Company paid an interim dividend of 15.0% or 

15 bzs per share, from the Company’s consolidated 

audited accounts for the six-month period ended 

30 June 2016, to all shareholders who were 

registered in the Company Shareholders’ register 

with Muscat Clearance & Depository Company 

SAOC as at 15 November 2016. The interim 

dividend was paid early November 2016.

Since the listing of the Company on 23 October 

2011, a total amount of 237 bzs / share (on the 

basis of nominal value of RO 0.100 per share 

after the stock split) has been distributed to the 

Shareholders of the Company who subscribed 

to the share during the Initial Public Offer (IPO) 

in October 2011 and still held those shares by 15 

November 2016. This level of paid dividend has 

exceeded the IPO projection which was 215 bzs 

per share (on the basis of nominal value of 100 

bzs/share after the stock split).

Distribution of Shareholding

The distribution of shareholding of SMN Power Holding SAOG as at 31 December 2016 was as follows:

CATEGORY Number of Shareholders Number of shares held Share capital %

Less than 5% 252       51,450,177  25.77 %

5% to 10% 2       24,910,443 12.48 %

10% and above 2      123,274,980 61.75% 

Total 256      199,635,600              100.00%
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Professional Profile of Statutory Auditor 

PwC is a global network of firms operating in 157 

countries with more than 223,000 people who 

are committed to delivering quality in assurance, 

tax and advisory services. PwC also provides 

corporate training and professional financial 

qualifications through PwC’s Academy. 

Established in the Middle East for over 40 years, 

PwC Middle East has firms in Bahrain, Egypt, 

Iraq, Jordan, Kuwait, Lebanon, Libya, Oman, the 

Palestinian territories, Qatar, Saudi Arabia and the 

United Arab Emirates, with around 4,000 people. 

(www.pwc.com/me). 

PwC has been established in Oman for over 

45 years with 4 Partners, including one Omani 

national, and over 140 professionals. Our experts 

in assurance, tax and advisory services are able 

to combine internationally acquired specialist 

consulting and technical skills with relevant local 

experience. 

PwC refers to the PwC network and/or one or 

more of its member firms, each of which is a 

separate legal entity. Please see www.pwc.com/

structure for further details. 

During the year 2016, professional fees in the 

amount of RO 25,700 were rendered to the 

external auditors in respect of the services 

provided by them to the organization (RO 24,350 

for audit and RO 1,350 for non-audit services. PwC 

has been the Statutory Auditor of the Company  

since 2015. 

Acknowledgement by the Board of Directors

In line with the Commercial Companies Law 

4/1974 and the CMA Administrative Decision 

5/2007, the Directors confirm their responsibility 

for the preparation of the financial statements in 

accordance with International Financing Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) and International Accounting 

Standards (“IAS”) to fairly reflect the financial 

position of the Company and its performance 

during the relevant financial period. The Board 

confirms that it has reviewed the efficiency and 

adequacy of the internal control systems in 

the Company. Following its review, the Board is 

pleased to inform the shareholders that adequate 

and appropriate internal controls are in place, 

which are in compliance with the relevant rules 

and regulations.

The Board of Directors confirms that there are no 

material matters that would affect the continuity 

of the Company, and its ability to continue its 

operations during the next financial year.
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Brief Profiles of Directors

Name: Johan Van Kerrebroeck 

(Chairman in 2016, resigned in February 2017).

Year of Joining: 2014 – Chairman (previously CEO 2010-2014) 

Resigned in February 2017.

Education Master Degree in Industrial Engineering Electricity. Business Education – 

Vlerick Management School, Belgium and CEDEP / INSEAD, France.

Experience Mr. Johan Van KERREBROECK joined ENGIE (previously named GDF SUEZ) 

in 1989 and developed over this period experience in energy business in 

Belgium as technical manager for utility distribution (1989-1996) and head 

of study department (1996-2001) in various regions in Flanders/Belgium. He 

was also board member of Belgian distribution company IMEWO. He joined 

Tractebel EGI in 2002 as VP Transport and Distribution, focusing on Mexico, 

Peru and Turkey. In 2004 he continued as Senior Vice President Transport and 

Distribution in the MENA region for GDF SUEZ and Deputy CEO of PTT NGD 

and Amata NGD in Thailand. He was board member in Hanjin City Gas (Korea), 

PTT NGD and Amata NGD. Up to January 2014 he was CEO of SMN Power, 

SMN Barka and Al Rusail. In January 2014 he was appointed as Director of 

SMN Power and affiliates and was elected Chairman of the Company. He 

currently assumes the position of Regional Director for ENGIE Eastern Africa.

Name      Dr. Abdullah Al Yahya’ey 

(Vice-Chairman in 2016, elected Chairman in February 2017)

Year of Joining 2011 

Education   BSc. in Geology - University of Qatar,

MSc. in Mineral Resources - University of Wales, Cardiff, UK

MSc. in Basin Evolution and Dynamics - University of London, UK, 

PhD. in Energy Policy - University of Dundee, UK

Experience Dr. Abdullah Al Yahya’ey is the Country President of Mubadala Development 

Company’s (MDC) Oman Representative Office (ORO). He has been occupying 

this position since joining MDC in September 2007, and since his appointment, 

he has made significant achievements in setting up the Mubadala ORO, 

managing Mubadala interest in Mukahizna Enhancement Oil Recovery 

project, Habiba Gas Exploration & Development and contributing to various 

MDC new business development opportunities. He spent the period from 1988 

to 2007 moving through various leadership positions in the Oman Ministry of 

Petroleum and Minerals and the Ministry Oil and Gas. Since 2014 and 2016, 

he is also endorsing the responsibilities of Country President of Mubadala 

Petroleum (MP) in Kazakhstan and Russia respectively. He was nominated to 

be the Chairman for MP Tender Committee since July 2015.
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Name   Dr. Hamed Al Maghdri

Year of joining February 2017. 

As per 1 February 2017 Board of Directors resolution’s disclosure, Mr. Hamed 

Al Maghdri was appointed by the Board as a Temporary Director to fill the 

vacant position following the resignation of Mr. Johan Van Kerrebroeck. He 

was elected as the Vice-Chairman of the Company.

Education B.Sc. Electrical & Electronics Engineering, Sultan Qaboos University.

MSc Deregulation of public sector (major power utilities) and MSc Energy 

Management (price control and tariffs structure, Abertay Dundee University, 

Scotland, UK.

PhD thesis in public sector restructuring and pricing. Dundee University, 

Scotland, UK.

International Leadership Development from IMD Lausanne, Switzerland. 

Experience Mr. Hamed Al Maghdri has over 22 years of managerial experience in different 

sectors i.e. power & water, telecommunication and services regulations. He is 

now Country Director for ENGIE Group in Oman responsible for all the Group 

activities in Oman. He was formerly CEO of Rural Areas Electricity Company 

SAOC. He has accumulated a solid experience in public sector restructuring 

and has taken part in the deregulation of the power sector in Oman. He is also 

a member of the management team for ENGIE Power and Water Middle East 

in Dubai and is a member of different research and developments associations 

and committees.

Name Antonios Chatzi Georgiou

Year of joining 2011

Experience Mr. Antonios Georgiou is the Managing Partner of National Trading Company 

LLC, well known for his rallying achievements. Mr. Georgiou has been in Oman 

for over 35 years, founded National Trading Company LLC in 1982 and has 

been the Managing Partner since then. Mr. Georgiou was instrumental in 

the first power privatization of Manah back in 1994 and has been involved 

in subsequent power companies in Oman, namely Sohar Power Company 

SAOG, and SMN Power. 

Name      Fatima Faheemi

Year of Joining 2016

Education MBA from the Wharton School of Business at the University of Pennsylvania, 

Philadelphia, USA

Bachelor of Business Administration from the American University of  

Sharjah, UAE.
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Experience Ms. Fatima Faheemi is a Vice President of Mubadala Development company. 

She is part of the Base Metals business development team within the Metals 

& Mining portfolio part of the Mubadala Industry & Technology Unit which 

includes Metals & Mining, Utilities, and Semiconductors. Prior to that, she 

held a series of positions with N.M.Rothschild and Hewlett-Packard. She 

has approximately 10 years of experience in investment banking, business 

development and corporate strategy. 

Name      Ahmad Dokmak (Director in 2016, resigned in February 2017)

Year of Joining 2016

Education   BSc. In Mechanical Engineering

Experience Mr. Ahmad Dokmak has more than 30 years of experience in operation and 

maintenance of power and water desalination plants. He currently assumes 

the position of Chief Technical Officer for Engie Power and Water Middle East.

Name      Imran Sheikh

Year of Joining 2015

Education   Mr. Imran Sheikh holds an MBA from Manchester Business School, UK. He 

is also a qualified accountant with fellow memberships of UK chartered 

accountancy bodies of CIMA and ACCA.  

Experience Mr. Imran Sheikh has been working since January 2012 as Chief Financial 

Officer at Qatar Power Company in Qatar. He started with International Power 

group in 1996 at Hub O&M, Pakistan. He moved to Shuweihat CMS International 

Power Company in Abu Dhabi in December 2002, where he served for three 

years. He then moved to Qatar Power Company in Qatar in January 2006 as 

a Business Manager, where he is now working as Chief Financial Officer.

Name      Ahmed Al Zakwany

Year of Joining 2014

Education   Mr. Ahmed Al Zakwany is a Fellow Chartered Accountant (FCCA) – UK 

coupled with Executive Education from London Business School.

Experience Mr. Ahmed Al Zakwany is currently CFO of Oman LNG. He started his career 

in Oman’s Ministry of Defence where he joined as a Junior Auditor before 

becoming the Chief Internal Auditor. In 2006, he moved to the private sector 

and joined Oman LNG as Chief Internal Auditor. He subsequently occupied 

a number of positions before being appointed as Chief Financial Officer 

in February 2016. Ahmed has over 25 years of experience covering Audit, 

Finance, Corporate Governance, Control Framework, and possesses solid 

leadership, professional excellence, boosted by robust people management 

skills. His strong qualities both technically and professionally, enabled him to 

be appointed as the Oman LNG and Qalhat LNG Integration Director in 2013 

ushering a new era of Oman’s LNG industry. In 2014, Ahmed was awarded the 

“Best Finance Executive of the year 2014” by the CFO Strategies Forum for 

MENA. Ahmed is currently a Board Member of SMN Power Holding Company 

representing Qalhat LNG investment in the Company.  
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Name Jean Rappe

Board Attendance in 

2016

Kahrabel FZE Nominee (Juristic Person) for the Board Meetings held on 24 

February and 9 May 2016. 

Year of Joining As per 1 February 2017 Board of Directors resolution’s disclosure, Mr. Jean 

Rappe was appointed by the Board as a Temporary Director to fill the vacant 

position following the resignation of Mr. Ahmad Dokmak. 

Experience Mr. Jean Rappe is an Electrical Engineer with over 25 years’ experience in 

the power plant industry in Europe, North America and South East Asia. He is 

currently the Chief Executive Officer of ENGIE Power and Water Middle East.

He joined ENGIE (previously GDF Suez) in 1990 as Project Manager for 

Tractebel Engineering and started his international career 3 years later at 

American Tractebel Corporation as Vice-President Engineering and Project 

Development.

From North America he moved to South-East Asia as Project Manager 

for SembCogen Singapore. In 1999 he became Vice President Business 

Development for the Group’s international energy services and in 2001 he took 

up the position of Senior Vice President Strategy and Business Communications 

for the Energy Europe and International Business Line of ENGIE. He was later 

appointed Executive Vice President of Business Development for ENGIE 

Energy Middle-East, Turkey and Africa, and more recently appointed Chief 

Executive Officer of ENGIE Power and Water Middle East.

Throughout his career, he has built up strong engineering and project 

development expertise, including project financing.

Brief Profile of the Management Team

SMN Power is led by a Management Team who is relying upon a team of professionals managing SMN 

Barka Power Company and Al Rusail Power Company. 

Description Omani Non-Omani Total

Managers 3 4 7

Other staff 9 3 12

Total* 12 7 19

* Including 4 employees seconded to STOMO.

In addition to the core team at SMN Power and Affiliates level, a team of 130 qualified and experienced 

people within STOMO manage the operations and maintenance at both plants. 

The senior management team was led during 2016 by Mr. Gillian-Alexandre Huart, Chief Executive Officer. 

On 1 January 2017, the Board has appointed Mr. Jürgen De Vyt as Chief Executive Officer, following the 

resignation of Mr. Gillian-Alexandre Huart.
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The senior management team has been empowered by the Board of Directors of the Company to 

manage the day-to-day operations of the Company and affiliates. The team benefits from the local and 

international support of its shareholders. 

Name      Jürgen De Vyt

Year of Joining Chief Executive Officer since 1 January 2017

Education   Master’s degree in Business Administration (Executive Management) from the 

Vlerick Leuven Ghent Management School and a Master’s degree in Electrical 

Engineering.

Experience Prior to joining SMN Power, Mr. De Vyt was the Chief Executive Office of Al 

Batinah Power Company SAOG since January 2014. He has over 22 years of 

experience in the management of major international projects in the industry, 

infrastructure and power sectors. Since he joined the ENGIE Group in 1991, 

he has been in charge of multicultural teams, responsible for the realisation 

of projects in Europe and Northern Africa. Between 2003 and 2006, Mr. De 

Vyt was the Project Director for the Sonatrach Gazoduc renovation project 

in Algeria. From 2007 to 2008, he was in charge of business development 

for renewable energy projects in Belgium and from 2008 till 2013, Mr. De Vyt 

worked on a new 800MW power plant in northern Germany, responsible for 

organizational and technical matters.

Name      Gillian-Alexandre Huart

Year of Joining 2014 – Chief Executive Officer up to 31 December 2016

Education Master Degree in Business Engineering from Solvay Brussels School of 

Economics and Management

Master Degree in Political Sciences from University of Brussels

Management Degree from INSEAD in Singapore.

Experience Mr. Gillian-Alexandre Huart joined ENGIE (previously named GDF SUEZ) in 

2002 and developed over this period various experiences in energy business 

in Europe and Asia Countries. After a few years as consultant for Accenture, 

Mr. Gillian-Alexandre Huart took over in 2002 a Senior Internal Auditor position 

within Electrabel, subsidiary of ENGIE, before taking manager responsibilities 

in 2005 for both Market Research & Competitive Intelligence department within 

Electrabel Marketing and Sales Business Unit, covering BeNeDeLux, France 

and Italy. In 2008, he moved to the ENGIE’s office in Bangkok as a Senior Vice-

President Business Development in Asia. He worked on several projects in the 

region and successfully closed various transactions in Singapore, Thailand, 

Laos and India. Since 2014, he is a member of the Boards of both Ras Girtas 

Power Company (Qatar) and Al Suwadi Power Company SAOG (Oman) as 

well Chairman of the Audit Committee of Al Suwadi Power Company SAOG.
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Name      Olivier Tabone

Year of Joining January 2015 – Chief Financial Officer

Education   Master Degree in Management and Accounting from Toulouse Business 

School, France.

Experience Mr. Olivier Tabone has over 18 years of experience in financial management. 

He began his career in 1998 working for Faurecia Automotive in Germany 

as Plant Assistant Controller and later in Paris as Financial Controller of its 

International Joint-Venture Programmes. Between 2002 and 2008, he worked 

for Messier-Dowty (a subsidiary of SAFRAN) at its Headquarter in Paris as 

Finance Manager for its Airbus Programmes and later at its UK business as 

Finance Manager for all planning and reporting activities. He subsequently 

joined GKN Aerospace (a subsidiary of GKN PLC) as Finance Director of its 

major business on the Isle of Wight (UK), where he was responsible for all 

financial activities. He joined Mubadala in 2010 as Vice-President Finance in 

charge of financial planning and business performance for the Aerospace 

Unit. He also played a key role in several business development and 

restructuring activities, including the M&A sale transaction of Abu Dhabi 

Aircraft Technologies (ADAT) to Etihad Airways.

Name      Anupam Kunwar

Year of Joining June 2016 - Chief Technical Officer

Education   Bachelor Degree in Electrical Engineering, Maulana Azad National Institute of 

Technology, Bhopal, India. 

Level 3 certificate in First Line Management, ILM , UK.

Experience Mr. Anupam Kunwar joined SMN Holding and its subsidiaries in June 2016 and 

has worked within ENGIE Group of companies since 2007. He worked with 

ENGIE STOMO from 2007 until May 2016 as Maintenance Manager for Rusail 

Power Plant and then Barka 2 Power and Desalination Plant. Previously, 

he worked for Enron Corporation and Tata Chemicals in India. Mr. Anupam 

has over 25 years of professional experience in O&M, construction and 

commissioning of Power and desalination plants In India and the Middle East.

Name      Zoher Karachiwala

Year of Joining 2007 – Company Secretary

Education   Bachelor Degree in Commerce, Chartered Accountant.

Experience Mr. Zoher Karachiwala is the Company Secretary. He is also the Chief Executive 

Officer of United Power Company SAOG and Company Secretary of Sohar 

Power Company. He has 39 years in field of Statutory Audit & Accounting and 

Finance. He was KPMG Audit Partner in Pakistan before joining United Power 

Company in 1995. Acted as Honorary Chairman of Audit Committee and the 

Board of Directors for a public company in Oman.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
SMN Power Holding SAOG

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of SMN Power Holding SAOG and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) as at 31 December 2016, 

and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

What we have audited

The Group’s consolidated financial statements contained on pages 47 to 98 which comprise:

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016;

• the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then 

ended;

• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting 

policies. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 

financial statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 

Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and the ethical requirements 

that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Sultanate of Oman. We have 

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
SMN Power Holding SAOG (continued)

Our audit approach

Overview

Key Audit Matters • Goodwill impairment assessment

• Useful lives and residual values of assets

• Provision for site restoration

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement 
in the consolidated financial statements. In particular, we considered where the directors made subjective 
judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions 
and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed 
the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters, consideration of 
whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the 
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Goodwill impairment assessment

Refer to note 3.3 (Estimates and assumptions) 
and note 6 (Goodwill) to the consolidated 
financial statements. 

The Group has goodwill of RO 15.739 million 
relating to SMN Barka Power Company SAOC 
and the acquisition of Al Rusail Power Company 
SAOC.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or 
whenever there is an impairment indicator. 
We focused on this area due to the size 
of the goodwill balance and because the 
management’s assessment of the ‘value in use’ 
of the Group’s Cash Generating Units (CGUs) 
involves judgements about the future results of 
the business and the discount rates applied to 
future cash flow forecasts.

Management has concluded that there is no 
impairment in goodwill. 

Our procedures in relation to management’s 
impairment assessment included:

Challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions 
based on our knowledge of the business and 
industry; and

Evaluating the suitability and appropriateness of the 
impairment model as prepared by the management;

The reasonableness of the discount rate by 
assessing the weighted average cost of capital of 
the Group; and

Evaluating the future cash flow forecasts and the 
process by which they were drawn up, including 
testing the underline calculations.

We found the assumptions made by management 
in relation to the value in use calculations to be 
reasonable based on available evidence.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
SMN Power Holding SAOG (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

Useful lives and residual value of assets

Refer to note 3.3 (Estimates and assumptions) 
and note 8 (Property, plant and equipment) to 
the consolidated financial statements. 

The Group operates two plants in Al Rusail (under 
finance lease) and Barka (under an operating 
lease). Accordingly, the Barak plant has been 
recognised as property, plant and equipment 
in the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group with the useful life of 30 years (in the year 
2009). The carrying value of the plant as at 31 
December 2016 is RO 178.035 million.  However, 
the Power and Water Purchase Agreement 
relating to Barka plant is valid upto 31 March 
2024.

The management has estimated the useful life of 
the Barka plant considering the various factors 
such as the operating cycles, the maintenance 
programmes, normal wear and tear and future 
cash flow forecasts.

Our procedures in relation to management’s 
estimate included:

• Assessing the reasonableness of the useful life 
of the plant and the depreciation method used 
by comparing it with companies in the country, 
operating plants with similar technology and 
capacity; and

• Evaluating the future cash flow forecasts and 
the process by which they were drawn up, 
including testing the underline calculations.

We found the estimate made by management in 
relation to the useful life of the Barka plant to be 
reasonable based on available evidence.

Provision for site restoration

Refer to note 3.3 (Estimates and assumptions) 
and note 16 (Provision for site restoration) to the 
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2016 the Group is maintaining 
a provision of RO 2.061 million relating to its 
site restoration obligation arising from the 
usufruct agreements with the Government of the 
Sultanate of Oman relating to the land on which 
the Al Rusail and Barka plants are constructed. 

Site restoration costs are based on 
management’s technical assessment of 
the probable future costs to be incurred in 
respect of the decommissioning of the plants. 
The significant uncertainty in estimating the 
provision is the cost that will be incurred and the 
applicable discount rate. 

Management has assumed that the sites will be 
restored using technology and material that are 
currently available based on a study conducted 
by an expert.

Our procedures in relation to management’s 
estimate included:

• Evaluating the independence, competence 
and capabilities of the management’s expert 
used to determine the site restoration costs;

• Testing, on a sample basis, source data shared 
by management with the expert;

• Assessing the reasonableness of the 
assumptions made by the expert keeping 
in view the general economic and market 
conditions; and

• The reasonableness of the discount rate by 
assessing the risk adjusted rate specific to the 
liability.

We found the estimate made by management in 
relation to the site restoration provision to be 
reasonable based on available evidence.
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Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises Board of 
Directors’ report, Corporate Governance Report, and Management Discussion and Analysis (but does not 
include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report, and the complete annual report which is not yet received, which is expected to be 
made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this 
audit report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the annual report which is not yet received, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial 
statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, the disclosure requirements 
of Capital Market Authority and the Commercial Companies Law of 1974, as amended and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, directors responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by directors.

•  Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

Further, we report that these consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in 
all material respects, with the relevant requirements of the CMA of the Sultanate of Oman and the 
Commercial Companies Law of 1974, as amended.
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SMN POWER HOLDING SAOG AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2016

31 December

2016

31 December 

2015
Notes RO’000 RO’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Finance lease receivables 5 18,807 22,946
Property, plant and equipment 8 179,037 187,343
Long-term prepayment 7 557 663
Goodwill 6 15,739 15,739
Deferred tax asset 15(c) - 132

214,140 226,823
Current assets
Inventory 9 2,845 2,799
Trade and other receivables 10 8,195 9,613
Current portion of finance lease receivables 5 4,140 3,905
Fixed term cash deposits 11 (a) 4,738 4,575
Cash and cash equivalents 11 (b) 2,420 1,041

22,338 21,933
Total assets 236,478 248,756

EQUITY AND RESERVES AND LIABILITIES

EQUITY AND RESERVES
Share capital 12 (a) 19,964 19,964
Statutory reserve 12 (b) 5,659 4,924
Retained earnings 11,027 7,391
Shareholder’s funds 36,650 32,279
Hedging reserve 13 (11,068) (15,095)
Net equity 25,582 17,184

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Long-term loans 14 161,508 176,490
Hedging reserve 13 9,780 13,515
Provision for end of service benefits 110 80
Provision for site restoration 16 2,061 5,743
Deferred tax liability 15 (c) 10,224 8,422

183,683 204,250
Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term loans 14 15,221 14,424
Current portion of hedging reserve 13 2,793 3,638
Trade and other payables 17 8,987 8,937
Current tax payable 212 323

27,213 27,322
Total liabilities 210,896 231,572
Total equity and liabilities 236,478 248,756

Net assets per share (RO) 27 0.184 0.162

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Members of the Board of Directors on                 

27 February 2017 and signed on their behalf by:

   Director                 Director

The notes on pages 51 to 98 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Independent auditor’s report - pages 41-46
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STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

2016 2015

Notes RO’000 RO’000

Revenue 18 87,995 109,539

Operating costs 19 (66,994) (88,274)

Gross profit 21,001 21,265

General and administrative expenses 20 (1,017) (1,153)

Profit from operations 19,984 20,112

Finance charges 21 (6,820) (9,833)

Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 158 (24)

Profit before tax 13,322 10,255

Income tax 15 (1,564) (1,235)

Net profit for the year 11,758 9,020

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss:

Changes in fair value of cash flow hedge - net 13 4,027 2,586

Total comprehensive income for the year 15,785 11,606

Basic earnings per share (RO) 28 0.059 0.045

The notes on pages 51 to 98 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Independent auditor’s report - pages 41-46
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SMN POWER HOLDING SAOG AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016

Share 

capital

Statutory     

reserve

Retained 

earnings

Hedging 

deficit

Total

RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000 RO‘000

At 1 January 2015 19,964 4,039 8,040 (17,681) 14,362

Net profit for the year - - 9,020 - 9,020

Other comprehensive income

Fair value of cash flow hedge 

adjustments - gross

- - - 9,300 9,300

Reclassification to profit 

  or loss – gross (note 21)

(6,361) (6,361)

Deferred tax asset - - - (353) (353)

Total comprehensive income - - 9,020 2,586 11,606

Transactions with owners 

recognised directly in equity

Dividend paid [note 12(c)] - - (8,784) - (8,784)

Transfer to statutory reserve - 885 (885) - -

At 31 December 2015 19,964 4,924 7,391 (15,095) 17,184

At 1 January 2016 19,964 4,924 7,391 (15,095) 17,184

Net profit for the year

Other comprehensive income - - 11,758 - 11,758

Fair value of cash flow hedge 

adjustments - gross

- - - 9,854 9,854

Reclassification to profit 

  or loss - gross (note 21)

- - - (5,278) (5,278)

Deferred tax liability - - - (549) (549)

Total comprehensive income - - 11,758 4,027 15,785

Transactions with owners 

recognised directly in equity

Dividend paid [note 12(c)] - - (7,387) - (7,387)

Transfer to statutory reserve - 735 (735) - -

At 31 December 2016 19,964 5,659 11,027 (11,068) 25,582

The notes on pages 51 to 98 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Independent auditor’s report - pages 41-46
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SMN POWER HOLDING SAOG AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 

2016 2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Operating activities

Profit before tax 13,322 10,255 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8,096 8,102 

Accretion charge for provision for site restoration 338 323

Amortisation of long-term prepayment 106 106 

Amortisation of deferred finance cost 336 361

Gain on re-assessment of site restoration provision (2,634) -

Net transfer to provision for end of service benefits 30 56

(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (158) 24

Finance charges 8,780 9,509

28,216 28,736

Working capital changes in:

 Inventories  (46)  (148)

 Trade and other receivables  1,418  (3,126)

 Trade and other payables  (65) 2,709 

Cash generated from operations 29,523 28,171 

Income tax paid (290) -

Net cash generated from operating activities 29,233  28,171

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,488) (476)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 464 126 

Fixed term cash deposits (maturity 3 to 6 months) (163)  (1,671)

Receipt against finance lease recoverable 3,904 3,658 

Net cash generated from investing activities 2,717 1,637 

Financing activities

Dividend paid (7,387) (8,784)

Finance charges paid (8,663)  (9,245)

Term loan repaid (14,521) (13,928)

Net cash used in financing activities (30,571)  (31,957)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 1,379  (2,149)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,041 3,190 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 2,420 1,041

The notes on pages 51 to 98 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Independent auditor’s report - pages 41-46
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SMN POWER HOLDING SAOG AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(forming part of the consolidated financial statements)

1. Legal status and principal activities

 SMN Power Holding SAOG (the Company) is a public Omani joint stock company incorporated on 7 

May 2011 under the Commercial Companies Law of Oman in Sultanate of Oman.

 The Company holds a 99.99% stake in each of Al-Rusail Power Company SAOC (RPC) and SMN 

Barka Power Company SAOC (SMNBPC and together with RPC the Project Companies), two closed 

joint stock companies incorporated in the Sultanate of Oman.  

 The Company and its subsidiaries (the Group) are engaged in the business of power generation, 

water desalination or other businesses related thereto, the management and supervision of such 

companies, to invest its funds in shares, bonds and securities, to provide loans, security and finance 

to its subsidiaries, and to own patents, trademarks, concessions and other incorporeal rights, utilise 

them and lease them to its subsidiaries and other companies. 

2. Significant agreements

(a) The Company

(i) The Secondment Services Agreement entered into on 1 May 2012 by and between SMNBPC, 

RPC, Kahrabel Operation and Maintenance Oman LLC (KOMO) and the Company.

(ii) The Secondment Services Agreement entered into on 1 May 2012 by and between SMNBPC, 

RPC, Mubadala Development Company and the Company.

(iii) Cost Sharing Agreement entered into on 30 October 2013, by and between SMNBPC, RPC 

and the Company.

(b) Subsidiary - RPC

(i) Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) dated 1 May 2005 (amended on 6 December 2006 and 19 

April 2012) with Oman Power and Water Procurement Company SAOC  (OPWP) relating to 

the commitment (1) from the Company to sell to OPWP the available capacity of electricity 

and (2) from OPWP to purchase this available capacity and electricity energy delivered up 

to March 2022. 

(ii) Natural Gas Sales Agreement (NGSA) dated 1 May 2005 and the NGSA Amendment 

Agreement dated 6 December 2006 with the Ministry of Oil and Gas (MOG) for the purchase 

of natural gas. 

(iii) Usufruct agreement dated 1 May 2005 with the Government for grant of Usufruct rights over 

the plant site for 25 years.

(iv) Secondment Services Agreement entered on 1 May 2012 between Al Rusail Power Company 

SAOC, SMN Barka Power Company SAOC, Kahrabel Operation and Maintenance Oman LLC 

and the Company.
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2. Significant agreements (continued)

(v) Financing Agreements with international banks and local banks and respective hedging 

agreements as disclosed in notes 13 and 14.

(vi) Agreement with Bank Muscat SAOG for working capital facilities dated 15 February 2007, 

with latest amendment dated 31 May 2015.

(vii) Operation & Maintenance (O&M) Agreement with Suez Tractebel Operations and 

Maintenance Oman LLC (STOMO) dated 1 February 2007 for a period of 15 years ending 

March 2022.

(viii) Cost Sharing Agreement entered into on 30 October 2013, by and between SMNBPC, RPC 

and the Company.

(c)  Subsidiary - SMNBPC

(i) Power and Water Purchase Agreement (PWPA) dated 6 December 2006, amended on 

27 January 2010, with OPWP for a period of 15 years from the scheduled commercial 

operation date.

(ii) Natural Gas Sales Agreement (NGSA) dated 6 December 2006 with the Ministry of Oil and 

Gas (MOG) for the purchase of natural gas for a period of 15 years from the scheduled 

commercial operation date.

(iii) Usufruct Agreement relating to the Barka site dated 6 December 2006 and respective 

amendment dated 3 December 2007, with the Government for grant of Usufruct rights over 

the plant site for 25 years.

(iv) Turnkey Engineering, Procurement and Construction (EPC) Contract dated 14 December 

2006 and successive amendments on 14 April 2008, 22 May 2012, and 26 November 2013 

with Doosan to perform the engineering, procurement and construction of the shared 

facilities and the plant.

(v) Settlement Agreement with Doosan dated 22 May 2012 to close the disputes related to 

delay in construction of the plant.

(vi) O&M Agreement with Suez Tractebel Operations and Maintenance Oman LLC (STOMO) 

dated  10 February 2007 and O & M Agreement amendments dated 31 October 2007 and 17 

December 2007 for a period of 15 years from the scheduled commercial operation date.

(vii) The Secondment Services Agreement entered into on May 1, 2012 by and between SMN 

Barka Power Company SAOC, Al Rusail Power Company SAOC, Kahrabel Operation and 

Maintenance Oman LLC and the Company.

(viii) Financing Agreements with international banks and local banks and respective hedging 

agreements as disclosed in notes 13 and 14.
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2. Significant agreements (continued)

(ix) Equity Contribution Loan (ECL) agreement dated 20 February 2007 with SMN Power Holding 

Company Ltd, subsequently transferred to SMN Power Holding SAOG following a Deed of 

Novation dated 9 August 2011 and entered into between (i) SMN Barka: (ii) RPC; (iii) SMN 

Jafza; (iv) the parent Company; (v) Kahrabel FZE; (vi) Mubadala Power Holding Company 

Limited; (vii) National Trading Company LLC and (viii) MDC Industry Holding Company LLC.

(x) Agreement with Bank Muscat SAOG for working capital facilities dated 9 September 2010, 

with latest amendment dated 31 May 2015.

(xi) Shareholders Agreement dated 20 February 2007 with AES Barka SAOG in respect of the 

establishment of Barka Seawater Facilities Company SAOC.

(xii) Cost Sharing Agreement entered into on 30 October 2013, by and between SMNBPC, RPC 

and the Company.

3. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies

3.1 Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance

 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board (IASB), the rules and guidelines on disclosures issued by the Capital Market Authority 

of the Sultanate of Oman (CMA) and the applicable requirements of the Commercial 

Companies Law of 1974, as amended.

(b) Basis of measurement 

 These financial statements are prepared on historical cost basis except for derivative 

financial instruments which are measured at fair value.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

 These consolidated financial statements are measured and presented in Rial Omani (RO) 

which is considered as the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 

Group operates (‘the functional and presentation currency’). The RO amounts in these 

financial statements have been translated using an exchange rate US$ 1 = RO 0.3845.

(d) Use of estimates and judgments

 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 

make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and 

reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses.   
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 The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various 

other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results 

of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and 

liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  The Group makes estimates and 

assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 

seldom equal the related actual results. The areas where accounting assumptions and 

estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed below and also in the 

relevant notes to the financial statements.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 

to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 

revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 

revision affects both current and future periods.

 In particular, estimates that involve uncertainties and judgments which have a significant 

effect on the financial statements include provision for site restoration costs; provision for 

doubtful debts; provision for inventory obsolescence; lease classification; and measurement 

of defined benefit obligation.

3.2 Judgements

 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 

judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the 

amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

(a) Finance Lease 

 Al-Rusail Power Company SAOC (RPC) and Oman Power and Water Procurement 

Company SAOC (OPWP), has entered into a Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) containing 

a take-or-pay clause favouring RPC. The management has applied the guidance in IFRIC 4, 

‘Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease’. Based on management’s evaluation, 

the Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) with OPWP is considered as a lease within the 

context of IFRIC 4 and has been classified as a finance lease under IAS 17, since significant 

risks and rewards associated with the ownership of the plant are transferred to OPWP. The 

primary basis for this conclusion being that the PPA is for substantial portion of the life of 

the plant and the present value of minimum lease payments substantially equates the fair 

value of the plant at the inception of the lease. 
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3. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

3.2 Judgements (continued)

(b) Operating Lease 

 SMN Barka Power Company SAOC (SMNBPC) and Oman Power and Water Procurement 

Company SAOC (OPWP), have entered into a Power & Water Purchase Agreement (PWPA) 

containing a take-or-pay clause favouring SMNBPC. The management has applied the 

guidance in IFRIC 4, ‘Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease’. Based on 

management’s evaluation, the PWPA with OPWP is considered as a lease within the context 

of IFRIC 4 and has been classified as an operating lease under IAS 17 since significant risks 

and rewards associated with the ownership of the plant lies with the SMNBPC and not with 

OPWP. The primary basis for this conclusion being that the PWPA is for a term of 15 years 

while the economic life of the power plant is estimated to be thirty years. The present value 

of minimum lease payments under the PWPA does not substantially recover the fair value 

of the plant at the inception of the lease. Further, the residual risk is borne by SMN Barka 

and not OPWP.

(c) Joint arrangement 

 The management has assessed the shareholders agreement dated 20 February 2007 between 

ACWA Power Barka SAOG and SMN Barka Power Company SAOC (SMNBPC) committed to 

establish a shared facility company owned 50:50 between the shareholders and concluded 

that it falls within the scope of IFRS 11, ‘Joint Arrangements’ and the arrangement is a joint 

operation. The primary basis for this conclusion is that both shareholders have collective/

joint control over the arrangement, its activities primarily aim to provide the parties with an 

output and it depends on the shareholders on a continuous basis for settling the liabilities 

relating to the activity conducted through the arrangement. The Group’s joint arrangement 

is structured as a closed public joint stock company and provides the Group and the parties 

to the agreements with rights to their respective share of the assets, liabilities, income and 

expenses of joint operations.

3.3 Estimates and assumptions 

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 

the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial years are discussed below:
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3. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

3.3 Estimates and assumptions (continued)

(a) Impairment of goodwill

 The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This 

requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill 

is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the 

expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable 

discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. These calculations 

use current year actual free cash flows, contractual cash flows of the PWPA/PPA and 

projections based on management’s best estimates considering the future market outlook. 

The net carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2016 was RO 15.7 million (2015 - RO 

15.7 million).

(b)	 Effectiveness	of	hedge	relationship

 At the inception of the hedge, the management documents the hedging strategy and 

performs hedge effectiveness testing to assess whether the hedge is effective. This exercise 

is performed at each reporting date to assess whether the hedge will remain effective 

throughout the term of the hedging instrument. As at the reporting date, the cumulative fair 

value of the interest rate swaps was RO 12.6 million (2015 - RO 17.1 million).

(c) Useful lives and residual value of property, plant and equipment

 Depreciation is charged so as to write-off the cost of assets, less their residual value, over 

their estimated useful lives. The calculation of useful lives is based on assessment of 

various factors such as the operating cycles, the maintenance programmes, and normal 

wear and tear using best estimates. The calculation of the residual value is based on the 

management’s best estimate.

(d) Site restoration costs

 Site restoration costs are based on management’s technical assessment of the probable 

future costs to be incurred in respect of the decommissioning of the plant facilities. The 

significant uncertainty in estimating the provision is the cost that will be incurred and the 

applicable discount rate. It has been assumed that the site will be restored using technology 

and material that are currently available. The provision has been calculated using a discount 

rate of 6.1% in RPC and 7.6% in SMNBPC.
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3. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 Significant accounting policies

 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by the Group and are 

consistent with those used in the previous years.

a) Basis of consolidation

 The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in profit 

and loss from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as 

appropriate. All significant intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are 

eliminated in full on consolidation.

Name of 
Subsidiary

Place of
incorporation
and operation

Proportion of
ownership
interest

Proportion
of voting
power held

Principal
activity

Date of acquisition 
/ incorporation

RPC Sultanate of 
Oman

99.99% 99.99% Electricity generation 
activities under a license 
issued by the Authority 
for Electricity Regulation, 
Oman.

1 February 2007

SMNBPC Sultanate of 
Oman

99.99% 99.99% Electricity generation 
and water desalination 
activities under a license 
issued by the Authority 
for Electricity Regulation, 
Oman

26 November 2006

 Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the 

power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits 

from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that currently are exercisable 

are taken into account. Management has assessed its investments as required under IFRS 

10 and concluded that it has control over these subsidiaries. Accordingly, the investments 

continue to be recognised as subsidiaries. The financial statements of subsidiaries are 

included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until 

the date that control ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed 

when necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the Group. 
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3. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 Significant accounting policies

(a)  Basis of consolidation (continued)

 Interest in joint arrangements 

 The Group has interests in joint arrangements which include joint operations and joint 

ventures. A joint arrangement is a contractual arrangement in which two or more parties 

have joint control. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties have rights 

to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A joint venture 

is a joint arrangement whereby the parties have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

 The Group combines its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of joint 

operations with similar items, line by line, in its consolidated financial statements. The 

financial statements of joint operations are prepared at the same reporting date as the 

Group, using consistent accounting policies. The Group’s investments in its joint operations 

are accounted for under the proportionate method of accounting.

 Under the proportionate method, the Group’s share of the assets, liabilities, income and 

expenses of the joint operation is combined line by line with similar items in the Group’s 

financial statements.

 Profits or losses resulting from ‘upstream’ and ‘downstream’ transactions between the 

Group and the joint operation are recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the 

extent of unrelated investor’s’ interests in the joint operation.

 The joint operations are proportionately consolidated until the date on which the Group 

ceases to have joint control over them.

(b) Goodwill

 Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess 

of the consideration paid over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the separately 

identifiable assets and liabilities acquired. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured 

at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for impairments, 

annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 

value may be impaired.

 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is 

allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from 

the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the 

Group are assigned to those units or groups of units. Each unit or group of units to which the 

goodwill is so allocated represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill 

is monitored for internal management purposes.
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3. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Goodwill (continued)

 Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 

(group of cash- generating units), to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount 

of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, 

an impairment loss is recognised. Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group 

of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill 

associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation 

when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed in this 

circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the 

portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

 The recoverable amount of a cash generating unit (CGU) is determined based on value-in-use 

calculations which require the use of assumptions. The calculations use cash flow projections 

based on financial forecasts approved by the Board of Directors, contractual cash flows of the 

PWPA/PPA and projections by the management using industry reports, consultant’s forecast 

and other data available to the management. 

(c) Property, plant and equipment

 Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation 

and any identified impairment loss. 

i) Subsequent expenditure

 Expenditure incurred to replace a component of an item of property, plant and equipment 

that is accounted for separately is capitalised and the carrying amount of the component 

that is replaced is written-off.

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no 

future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 

derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds 

and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of profit or loss in the 

period in which the asset is derecognised.

ii) Depreciation

 Depreciation is calculated so as to allocate the cost of property, plant and equipment (other 

than capital work in progress) on a straight line basis over the expected useful life of the 

asset concerned. The estimated useful lives for this purpose are:
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3. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

ii) Depreciation (continued)

 Years

 Plant and equipment 30

 Furniture, fixture and office equipment 5 to 7

 Computer software 3

 Motor vehicles 3

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting date.

iii) Capital work-in-progress

 Capital work-in-progress is measured at cost and is not depreciated until it is transferred 

into one of the above categories, which occurs when the asset is ready for its intended use.

iv) Site restoration

 A liability for future site restoration is recognised as the activities giving rise to the obligation 

of site restoration take place. The liability is measured at the present value of the estimated 

future cash outflows to be incurred on the basis of current technology. The liability includes 

all costs associated with site restoration, including plant closure and monitoring costs.

(d) Impairment

i) Financial assets

 A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or 

more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. An 

impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as 

the difference between its carrying amount, and the present value of estimated future cash 

flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. 

 Individually significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis. 

The remaining financial assets are assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit 

risk characteristics. All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. An impairment 

loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 

impairment loss was recognised. For financial assets measured at amortised cost, the 

reversal is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

ii) Non-financial assets

 The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting 

date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indications exist 

then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised if the 

carrying amount of an asset or its cash generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable 

amount. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the greater of its 

value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. 

 In assessing the value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 

present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 

the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses recognised 

in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has 

decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in 

estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only 

to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 

would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had 

been recognised.

(e) Leases  

 Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially 

all the risks and rewards of ownership. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

 Amounts receivable under operating leases, as lessor, are recognised as lease income 

on a straight-line basis over the lease term, unless another systematic basis is more 

representative of the time pattern in which use benefit derived from the leased asset 

is diminished. In accordance with IFRS, revenue stemming from (substantial) services in 

connection with the leased asset is not considered as lease revenue and is accounted for 

separately. 

 IFRIC 4 deals with the identification of services and take-or-pay sales or purchasing contracts 

that do not take the legal form of a lease but convey the rights to customers/suppliers to 

use an asset or a group of assets in return for a payment or a series of fixed payments. 

Contracts meeting these criteria should be identified as either operating leases or finance 

leases. This interpretation is applicable to the Group’s PPA and PWPA.

(f) Long term prepayments

 Items of long term prepayments are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation 

based on the number of years for which the benefit will be derived from the prepayments.
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3. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(g) Inventories

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are those 

expenses incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition. The cost 

of raw materials and consumables and goods for resale is based on weighted average 

method and consists of direct costs of materials and related overheads. 

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 

applicable variable selling expenses. Provision is made where necessary for obsolete, slow 

moving and defective items, based on management’s assessment.

(h) Financial instruments

i) Non-derivative financial instruments

 Non-derivative financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables, cash at bank, 

loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.

 Cash at bank comprises bank balances. For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, 

the Group considers all cash and bank balances with an original maturity of less than three 

months from the date of placement to be cash and cash equivalents.

 Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

ii) Derivative financial instruments

 The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate risks 

arising from financing activities. In accordance with its policy, the Group does not hold or 

issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. However, derivatives that do not 

qualify for hedge accounting are accounted for as trading instruments.

 Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

derivative financial instruments are stated at their fair value. Recognition of any resultant 

gain or loss depends on the nature of the item being hedged. The fair value of a derivative is 

the equivalent to the unrealised gain or loss arising from marked to market valuation of the 

derivative using prevailing market rates or internal pricing models. Derivatives with positive 

market values (unrealised gains) are included under non-current assets and their current 

portion in current assets and derivatives with negative market values (unrealised losses) 

are included under non-current liabilities and their current portion in current liabilities in the 

statement of financial position. 
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3. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

ii) Derivative financial instruments (continued)

 Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in 

cash flows of a recognised liability, the part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial 

instrument that qualifies as an effective hedge is recognised directly in equity, net of tax. 

The ineffective part of any gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss 

immediately. 

 The relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk 

management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions are 

documented at the inception of the hedging transaction. The entity also documents its 

assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives 

that are used in hedging transactions have been and will continue to be highly effective in 

offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

 Derivative financial instruments are re-measured to fair value at subsequent reporting 

dates. Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and 

effective as cash flow hedges are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and 

presented in hedging reserve in equity. Any in-effective portion is recognised immediately 

in profit and loss. Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not 

qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in profit and loss as they arise.

(i)  Provisions

 A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group has a legal 

or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow 

of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.  If the effect is material, 

provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 

that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 

to the liability.

(j) Interest bearing borrowings 

 Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable costs such 

as loan arrangement fee. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are 

stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value being 

recognised in profit and loss over the expected period of borrowings on an effective interest 

rate basis.

(k)  Taxation

 Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in profit 

and loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which 

case it is recognised in equity.  
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3. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(k)  Taxation (continued)

 Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates 

enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable 

in respect of previous periods.

 Deferred tax is calculated using the balance sheet liability method, providing for temporary 

differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 

purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the tax 

rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary difference when they reverse, based 

on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

 A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 

profits will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred 

tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no 

longer probable that the related tax benefits will be realised.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset 

current tax assets and liabilities and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax 

authority on the same taxable entity, or on different taxable entities, but they intend to settle 

current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be 

realised simultaneously.

 In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account the 

impact of uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The 

assessment regarding adequacy of tax liability for open tax year relies on estimates and 

assumptions and may involve a series of judgments about future events. New information 

may become available that causes the Group to change its judgment regarding the adequacy 

of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period 

that such a determination is made.

(l) Foreign currency

 In preparing the financial statements, transactions in currencies other than the Group 

functional currency of the component of the Group are recorded at the exchange rates 

prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 

 Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 

and from the translation at period end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.  
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3. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(l) Foreign currency (continued)

 Translation gains and losses related to monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in 

the period in which they arise, with the exception of those related to monetary items that 

qualify as hedging instruments in a cash flow hedge that are recognised initially in other 

comprehensive income to the extent that the hedge is effective.

(m)	 Employee	benefits

 Obligations for contributions to a defined contribution retirement plan, for Omani employees, 

in accordance with the Omani Social Insurance Scheme, are recognised as an expense in 

profit and loss as incurred.

 The Group’s obligation in respect of non-Omani employees’ terminal benefits is the amount 

of future benefit that such employees have earned in return for their service in the current 

and prior periods having regard to the employee contract and Oman Labour Law 2003, as 

amended.

(n) Revenue

 Revenue stemming from PWPA/PPA comprises of the following:

 Revenue from the PWPA/PPA:

- Capacity charge covering the investment charge and the fixed operating and 

maintenance charge; and

- Energy charge covering the fuel charge and variable operating and maintenance 

charge.

 Revenue from the PPA:

 The PPA in Al-Rusail Power Company is a finance lease arrangement and lease interest 

income recognised in the statement of comprehensive income is part of the minimum lease 

payment. Amounts received in relation to electricity energy charges (covering the fuel 

charge and variable operating and maintenance charge) are contingent rental receipts.

 The revenue is recognised by the Group on an accrual basis of accounting when the services 

have been rendered and/or the risks and rewards have been transferred, the amounts of 

revenue and related costs can be reliably measured, and it is probable that the economic 

benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group. Capacity charge covering the 

investment charge, received under the PPA, are finance lease payments (notes 5 and 18).
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3. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(o)  Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 

qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to 

get ready for their intended use, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time that 

the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. Investment income earned on the 

temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets 

is deducted from the cost of those assets. All other borrowing costs are recognised as 

expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

(p) Directors’ remuneration

 Directors’ remunerations are computed in accordance with the Article 101 of the Commercial 

Companies Law of 1974, as per the requirements of Capital Market Authority and are 

recognised as an expense in the statement of profit or loss.

(q) Dividend

 The Board of Directors takes into account appropriate parameters including the requirements 

of the Commercial Companies Law while recommending the dividend.

 Dividend distribution to the Parent Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the 

Group’s and Parent Company’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are 

approved.

(r) Earnings and net assets per share 

 The Group presents earnings per share (EPS) and net assets per share data for its 

ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to 

ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 

outstanding during the period. 

 Net assets per share is calculated by dividing the net assets attributable to ordinary 

shareholders of the Company by the number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 

year. Net assets for the purpose is defined as total equity less hedging deficit/surplus.

(s)	 	New	standards	and	interpretation	not	yet	effective

 A number of new relevant standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not 

yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2016, and have not been applied in preparing 

these consolidated financial statements.  Those which may be relevant to the Company are 

set out below. 
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3. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

3.4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(s)	 	New	standards	and	interpretation	not	yet	effective	(continued)

 IFRS 9: Financial Instruments

 IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 

assets. Under IFRS 9, financial assets are classified and measured based on the business 

model in which they are held and the characteristics of their contractual cash flows. IFRS 9 

introduces additions relating to financial liabilities. The IASB currently has an active project 

to make limited amendments to the classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 

9 and add new requirements to address the impairment of financial assets and hedge 

accounting. IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with 

early adoption permitted. The Group is currently assessing the impact of this standard and 

does not plan to adopt it early.

 IFRS 15: Revenue from contracts with customers

 IFRS 15 specifies how and when an IFRS reporting entity will recognise revenue as well 

as requiring such entities to provide users of financial statements with more informative, 

relevant disclosures. The standard provides a single, principles based five-step model to be 

applied to all contracts with customers. IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2018 with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently assessing 

the impact of this standard and does not plan to adopt it early.

 IFRS 16: Leases

 IFRS 16 will result in almost all leases being recognised on the balance sheet, as the 

distinction between operating and finance leases is removed. Under the new standard, an 

asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognised. 

The only exceptions are short-term and low-value leases. The accounting for lessors will 

not significantly change. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2019. The company is currently assessing the impact of this standard and does not 

plan to adopt early.

(t) Segmental reporting

 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting 

provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is 

responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, 

has been identified as the Chief Executive Officer who manages the company on a day-

to-day basis, as per the directives given by the board of directors that makes strategic 

decisions.
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4. Determination of fair values

 A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, 

for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.

(a) Trade and other receivables

 The fair value of trade and other receivables including cash and bank balances approximates to 

their carrying amount due to their short-term maturity.

(b) Derivatives 

 The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated by discounting estimated future cash flows 

based on the terms and maturity of each contract and using market interest rates for a similar 

instrument at the measurement date. This calculation is tested for reasonableness through 

comparison with the valuations received from the parties issuing the instruments.

(c) Non-derivative financial liabilities

 Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present 

value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the 

reporting date.

5.   Finance lease receivables 

Leasing arrangements 

RPC

 Management has concluded that the Power Purchase Agreement (PPA), as amended effective 1 

December 2006, conveys a right of use of the power plant to the customer (OPWP), in accordance 

with IFRIC 4 – ‘Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease’. The lease qualifies as a 

finance lease under “IAS 17 – Leases”. The factors leading to this lease classification are (a) the 

lease term is for the major part of the remaining economic life of the plant, and, (b) at inception of 

the lease, the present value of the minimum lease payments amounted to substantially all of the fair 

value of the plant. In accordance with IFRS, revenue stemming from the substantial operation and 

maintenance services is not considered as lease revenue.
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5.   Finance lease receivables (continued)

31 December 2016 Minimum lease 

receipts

Present value 

of minimum 

lease receipts

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Amounts receivable under finance lease

Within one year 5,447 4,140

In 2 to 5 years (inclusive) 20,907 18,491

After 5 years 321 316

26,675 22,947

Less : unearned finance income  (3,728) -

Present value of minimum lease receipts 22,947 22,947

Included in the statement of financial position as :

Current finance lease receivables 4,140

Non-current finance lease receivables 18,807

Amounts receivable under finance lease 22,947

31 December 2015 Minimum lease 

receipts

Present value 

of minimum 

lease receipts

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Amounts receivable under finance lease:

Within one year 5,460 3,905 

In 2 to 5 years (inclusive) 21,801 18,226 

After 5 years 4,873 4,720

32,134 26,851 

Less : unearned finance income (5,283) -

Present value of minimum lease receipts       26,851 26,851 

Included in the statement of financial position as:

Current finance lease receivables 3,905 

Non-current finance lease receivables 22,946

Amounts receivable under finance lease 26,851

 The interest rate implicit in the lease is 6.2% per annum.
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5.   Finance lease receivables (continued)  

(a) Leased land

 Land on which the Plant is constructed has been leased by Government of Sultanate of Oman to RPC 

for a period of 25 years expiring on 1 May 2030 under the terms of the Usufruct Agreement with an 

option for a further lease extension of 25 years if required [note 23(a)].

(b) Contingent rents

 Rental income relating to finance lease includes the following contingent rent:

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

 

Electricity energy charges 26,569 51,861

6. Goodwill

31 December

2016

31 December 

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

 

15,739 15,739

(a)     Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquiring shares in a subsidiary over the aggregate 

fair value of the net assets acquired and rights to build and operate a new power plant. 

(b) The carrying amount of goodwill as of the reporting year end allocated to each of the cash-

generating units is as follows:

31 December

2016

31 December 

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

 

SMN Barka Power Company SAOC  14,952   14,952  

Al-Rusail Power Company SAOC   787   787

15,739 15,739
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6. Goodwill (continued)

(c) The recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit is determined based on a value-in-use 

calculation, using current year actual free cash flows, contractual cash flows of the PWPA/

PPA and projections based on management’s best estimates considering the future market 

outlook. The key assumptions of the value-in-use calculations are those regarding discount 

rates, growth rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs incurred during the 

year. Management estimates discount rates that reflect current market assessments of the time 

value of money and the risks specific to each cash-generating unit. The growth rates are based 

on management estimates having regard to industry growth rates. Changes in selling prices and 

direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of future changes in the market.

(d) Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

 With regard to the assessment of value-in-use of the cash generating units, management 

believes that no reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions would cause the 

carrying value of the goodwill to materially exceed its recoverable amount.

(e) Management has reviewed the underlying results and financial position of related cash generating 

units to which the goodwill pertains to and has determined that no provision for impairment of 

goodwill is required as at 31 December 2016.

7. Long-term prepayment

31 December

2016

31 December 

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Cost

At 1 January and 31 December 1,609 1,609

Accumulated amortization

At 1 January 946 840

Amortisation for the year (note 19) 106 106

At 31 December 1,052 946

Net book value at 31 December 557 663
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8.    Property, plant and equipment

Plant and 

equipment

Furniture 

and fixture

Motor 

vehicles

Office 

equipment

Leasehold 

improvement

Total

RO ‘000 RO ‘000 RO ‘000 RO ‘000 RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Cost

At 1 January 2016 237,507 22 70 148 1,230  238,977 

Additions 985 87 20 5 391  1,488 

Disposals        (2,208)           (18) (26) (3) -  (2,255)

At 31 December 2016 236,284 91 64 150 1,621  238,210 

Accumulated 

depreciation

At 1 January 2016 50,841 21 59 123 590  51,634 

Charge for the year 

(notes 19 and 20)

7,918 5 13 13 147  8,096 

Disposals (510) (18) (26) (3) -  (557)

At 31 December 2016 58,249 8 46 133 737  59,173 

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2016 178,035 83 18 17 884 179,037

Cost

At 1 January 2015 237,373 22 80 143 1,086 238,704

Additions 327 - - 5 144 476

Disposals  (193) -    (10) - - (203)

At 31 December 2015 237,507 22 70 148 1,230 238,977

Accumulated 

depreciation

At 1 January 2015 42,971 19 55 99 441 43,585

Charge for the year 

(notes 19 and 20)

7,913 2 14 24 149 8,102

Disposals  (43) - (10) - - (53)

At 31 December 2015 50,841 21 59 123 590 51,634

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2015 186,666 1 11 25 640 187,343
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8.    Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(a) Leased land

 Land on which the plant is constructed has been leased by Government of Sultanate of Oman to 

SMNBPC for a period of 25 years expiring on 5 December 2031 under the term of the Usufruct 

Agreement, which can be extended for an additional 25 years. Lease rent is paid at the rate of RO 

1,000 per annum [note 23 (b)].

(b) Security

 The Group’s property, plant and equipment are pledged as security against the term loans (note 14).

9.  Inventory

31 December

2016

31 December 

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Fuel oil (diesel) 2,845 2,799

 Inventory represent stock of diesel held by the group at the reporting date as backup fuel to operate 

the plant.

10. Trade and other receivables

31 December

2016

31 December 

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Trade receivables 6,526 8,803

Due from related parties (note 22) 84 246

Prepayments 235 377

Other receivables (note 10.1) 1,350 187

8,195 9,613

 The Group has one customer (OPWP) which accounts for majority of the trade receivables balance as at  

31 December 2016 (majority balance as at 31 December 2015).

 The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

31 December

2016

31 December 

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

1 to 30 days 6,526 8,803
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10.1    Other receivables

 Other receivables include insurance claim receivable of RO 1,155,115 on account of business 

interruption loss resulting from breakdown of Gas Turbine 1 in the Barka Plant. The claim has been 

recorded in these consolidated financial statements since the business loss incurred as a result of 

the breakdown can be measured reliably and it is probable that the future economic benefits will flow 

to the company.

11. Cash and bank

 Cash and bank comprise the fixed term cash deposits and cash and cash equivalents.

(a) Fixed term cash deposits

 Fixed term cash deposits represent amounts kept with a local bank for a period of 3 to 6 months 

having fixed interest rate.

(b) Cash and cash equivalents

31 December

2016

31 December 

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Cash at bank 2,418 1,037

Cash in hand 2 4

Cash and cash equivalents 2,420 1,041

12. Share capital and reserves

(a) Share capital

 As at 31 December 2016, the Company’s issued and paid-up capital consists of 199,635,600 

shares of 100 baizas each. The details of the shareholders are as follows:

31 December 2016

Nationality Number of 

shares held of 

nominal value 

100 baiza 

each

% of total Aggregate 

nominal 

value of 

shares held 

(RO‘000)

Kahrabel FZE UAE 61,637,490 30.875% 6,164

Mubadala Power Holding Company Limited UAE 61,637,490 30.875% 6,164

Ministry of Defense Pension Fund Omani 14,910,443 7.469% 1,491

Qalhat LNG SAOC Omani 10,000,000 5.009% 1,000

Public 51,450,177 25.772% 5,145

199,635,600 100% 19,964
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12. Share capital and reserves (continued)

31 December 2015

Nationality Number of 

shares held of 

nominal value 

100 baiza each

% of total Aggregate 

nominal 

value of 

shares held 

(RO‘000)

Kahrabel FZE UAE 61,637,490 30.875% 6,164

Mubadala Power Holding Company Limited UAE 61,637,490 30.875% 6,164

Ministry of Defense Pension Fund Omani 14,910,443 7.469% 1,491

Qalhat LNG SAOC Omani 10,000,000 5.000% 1,000

Public 51,450,177 25.781% 5,145

199,635,600 100% 19,964

(b) Statutory reserve

 In accordance with the Commercial Companies Law of 1974 (as amended) applicable to companies 

registered in the Sultanate of Oman, 10% of a company’s net profits after the deduction of taxes 

will be transferred to a non-distributable statutory reserve each year until the amount of such 

legal reserve has reached a minimum of one-third of that Company’s issued share capital. This 

reserve is not available for distribution to shareholders as dividends.

(c) Dividends paid

 During the Annual General Meeting on 31 March 2015, the company approved a final dividend of  

RO 4,391,983 from its consolidated retained earnings of the company as at 31 December 

2014 corresponding to 22% (22 bzs/share), on the basis of nominal value of bzs 100 to the 

shareholders of the company who are on the shareholders’ list registered with Muscat Clearing 

and Depository Company SAOC as on 3 May 2015.

 During the meeting of the Board of Directors held on 18 October 2015, pursuant to 31 March 

2015 shareholders’ resolution, the Board approved an interim dividend of RO 4,391,982 from the 

consolidated retained earnings of the company as at 31 December 2015 corresponding to 22% 

(22 bzs/share), on the basis of nominal value of bzs 100 to the shareholders of the company who 

were on the shareholders’ list registered with Muscat Clearing and Depository Company SAOC 

as on 1 November 2015.

 During the Annual General Meeting on 31 March 2016, the company approved a final dividend of  

RO 4,391,983 from its consolidated retained earnings of the company as at 31 December 

2015 corresponding to 22% (22 bzs/share), on the basis of nominal value of bzs 100 to the 

shareholders of the company who are on the shareholders’ list registered with Muscat Clearing 

and Depository Company SAOC as on 1 May 2016.
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12. Share capital and reserves (continued)

(c) Dividends paid (continued)

 During the meeting of the Board of Directors held on 23 October 2016, pursuant to 31 March 

2016 shareholders’ resolution, the Board approved an interim dividend of RO 2,994,534 from the 

consolidated retained earnings of the company as at 30 June 2016 corresponding to 15% (15 bzs/

share), on the basis of nominal value of bzs 100 to the shareholders of the company who were 

on the shareholders’ list registered with Muscat Clearing and Depository Company SAOC as on 

15 November 2016.

(c) Unpaid dividends

 During the previous year, an amount of RO 2,866 pertaining to the year 2014 and RO 7,421 

pertaining to the year 2015 of unclaimed dividends have been transferred to the Investors’ Trust 

Fund of the CMA. During 2016 an amount of RO 3,582 pertaining to the year 2015 and RO 3,604 

pertaining to the year 2016 have been transferred to the Investors’ Trust Fund of the CMA.

13. Hedging reserve

a) Subsidiary - RPC

 RPC entered on 20 February 2007 into an interest rate swap agreement with Calyon related to 

the base term loan facility at the rate of 4.88% per annum.

 On 19 November 2008, RPC entered into a new hedging agreement with Calyon increasing the 

hedged amount from 80% to 95% for the period from March 2009 to March 2013 at a fixed rate 

of 3.30% per annum.

 On 24 May 2012, RPC entered into a new hedging agreement with CA-CIB increasing the hedged 

amount from 80% to 100% for the period from March 2013 to September 2016 at the following 

rates:

Period Fixed rate

March 2013 to September 2014 0.7500%

September 2014 to September 2015 1.5000%

September 2015 to September 2016 1.6625%

 The notional value of the hedge as at the reporting date was RO 13.64 million (2015: RO 26.57 

million).
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13. Hedging reserve (continued)

b) Subsidiary - SMNBPC

 SMNBPC has entered on 20 February 2007 into three interest rate swap agreements related 

to the base term loan facility with international banks (HSBC, Mizuho, CA-CIB) at fixed rates of 

4.8675%, 4.8885% and 4.8570% per annum respectively.

 On 19 November 2008, SMNBPC entered into a new hedging agreement with CA-CIB increasing 

the amount hedged from 80% to 95% of the term loan for March 2009 to March 2013 period at a 

fixed rate of 3.36% per annum.

 On 26 April 2012, SMNBPC entered into a new hedging agreement with HSBC increasing the 

hedged amount from 80% to 100% for the period from March 2013 to September 2018 at the 

following rates:

Period Fixed rate

March 2013 to September 2014 0.7500%

September 2014 to March 2016 1.5000%

March 2016 to September 2017 2.0000%

September 2017 to September 2018 3.4400%

 The notional value of the hedge as at the reporting date was RO 154.99 million (2015: RO 166.30 

million).

 Fair value of swaps

 The negative fair value of the above swaps amounting to RO 12.57 million (2015: RO 17.15 million) 

is based on market values of equivalent instruments at the reporting date. 

 All the interest rate swaps are designated and effective as cash flow hedges and the fair value 

thereof has been recognised directly in other comprehensive income and presented in equity 

net of related deferred tax.

 The Group’s main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings with variable rates, which 

expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Group policy is to maintain at least minimum 

requirements as stipulated in the facilities agreement of its borrowings at fixed rate using interest 

rate swaps. During the current year, the Group’s borrowings at variable rate were entirely 

denominated in US Dollars.

 The Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk by using floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps. 

Under these swaps, the Group agrees with other parties to exchange, at specified intervals 

(semi-annually), the difference between fixed contract rates and floating rate interest amounts 

calculated by reference to the agreed notional principal amounts. 
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14. Term loans

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO‘000 RO‘000

Term loans 178,353 192,874

Less: Current portion (15,221) (14,424)

163,132 178,450

Less: Unamortised transaction costs (1,624) (1,960)

Term loan – non-current portion 161,508 176,490

RPC (i) 19,947 23,288 

SMNBPC (ii) 141,561 153,202 

161,508 176,490 

 The syndicated term loan of RPC is secured over the present and future assets of the subsidiary 

and carries interest at a variable rate of LIBOR plus applicable margin and is repayable in bi-annual 

installments due from 30 September 2009 until 31 March 2022. There is also a mandatory repayment 

of the loan through all excess cash, beginning on 30 September 2016.

 The syndicated term loan of SMNBPC is secured over the present and future assets of the subsidiary 

and carries interest at a variable rate of LIBOR plus applicable margin. The loan amortises, with bi-

annual repayments of predetermined percentages of 87.5% of the outstanding principal amount due 

from 30 September 2009 until 31 March 2024 with the remaining 12.5% being repaid, after the validity 

of the PWPA, in four equal installments from 30 September 2024 to 31 March 2026. There is also a 

mandatory repayment of the loan through all excess cash (cash sweep), beginning on 30 September 

2018.

Repayment term

 The repayment schedule of the loans is as follows:

31 December

2016

31 December 

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Payable within one year  15,221 14,424 

Payable between 1 and 2 years  15,980 15,221 

Payable between 2 and 5 years  50,799 50,285 

Payable after 5 years  96,353 112,944

178,353 192,874 
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14. Term loans (continued)

Security 

 The term loan and the debt reserve account facility are secured, under the security documents as a 

whole, by the following collateral:

- a charge over the Subsidiaries’ assets (including, amongst others, the Project Accounts, all  

tangible assets and receivables);

- a pledge of Subsidiaries’ shares;

- a pledge of shares in the investment in joint arrangement [see note 23(b)];

- an assignment of Subsidiaries’ contracts (including the Project Documents) to which it is a party;

- an assignment of Subsidiaries’ insurance; and 

- security over the Company cash pooling accounts and an assignment of the rights of the  

Company thereunder.

Financial Covenants

 Under the terms of the borrowing facilities, the group is required to comply with a minimum debt 

service coverage ratio of 1.0: 1.0 and there is no breach during the reporting year. 

Financial guarantee (DSRA LC Facility)

31 December

2016

31 December 

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

SMNBPC 8,574 8,405

RPC 1,674 1,708

10,248   10,113 

Subsidiary - SMNBPC

 The term loan facility bears variable interest rate at US$ Libor plus margin as follows:

(i) 0.70% per annum during the period from, and including, the Commercial Operation Date until the 

fifth anniversary of the Commercial Operation Date;

(ii) 0.90% per annum from, and including, the fifth anniversary of the Commercial Operation Date 

until the ninth anniversary of the Commercial Operation Date;

(iii) 1.10% per annum from and including, the ninth anniversary of the Commercial Operation Date 

until the thirteenth anniversary of the Commercial Operation Date;

(iv)  1.25% per annum from, and including, the thirteenth anniversary of the Commercial Operation 

Date until the fifteenth anniversary of the Commercial Operation Date; and

(v) thereafter 1.60% per annum.
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14. Term loans (continued)

Subsidiary - RPC

 The term loan facility bears variable interest rate at US$ Libor plus margin as follows:

(i)  0.70%  per annum during  the period from, and including, the Commercial Operation Date until 

the fifth anniversary  of  the  Commercial  Operation Date;

(ii)    0.90% per annum from, and including, the fifth anniversary of the Commercial Operation Date 

until the ninth anniversary of the Commercial Operation Date; and

(iii)  thereafter, 1.10% per annum from, and including, the ninth anniversary of the Commercial 

Operation Date until the thirteenth anniversary of the Commercial Operation Date.

 For the purpose of interest rate margin re-set in accordance with the facilities agreements, the 

Commercial Operation Date is 15 November 2009 (for both RPC and SMNBPC).

Bank borrowings 

 RPC’s and SMNBPC’s working capital facilities are secured under the conditions below and carry 

interest at the market rate applicable at the date of utilisation request with a maximum interest rate 

of 3.5% per annum.

 The working capital facility is secured under the security documents as a whole, by the following 

collateral:

- A charge over the subsidiaries’ assets (including, amongst others, the bank accounts, plant  

assets and finance lease receivables);

- A pledge of its shares;

- An assignment of its contracts (including the Project Documents) to which it is a party;

- An assignment of its insurance; and

- Security over the Company’s cash pooling account and an assignment of its rights there under.

15. Taxation

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

(a) Recognised in profit and loss RO‘000 RO‘000

Current tax 179 106

Deferred tax for the year 1,385 1,129

Tax expense for the year 1,564 1,235

 The tax charge has arisen on the profits of the Company and its subsidiaries which are subject to 

income tax at the rate of 12% of taxable profits in excess of RO 30,000 as per the Omani tax laws.
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15. Taxation (continued)

(b)  Reconciliation

 The following is a reconciliation of income taxes with the income tax expense at the applicable tax 

rate:

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Profit before tax 13,322 10,255 

Income tax (after deducting the basic exemption of RO 30,000) 1,595 1,227 

Unrecognised deferred tax asset (31) 8

Tax expense for the year 1,564 1,235 

(c)  Deferred tax liability - net 

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Deferred tax liability – SMNBPC 10,158 8,422

Deferred tax liability/(asset) – RPC 66 (132)

10,224 8,290

Subsidiary - SMNBPC

 (d) Deferred tax asset/(liability) – net

 Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

As at

1 January

2016

Recognised 

during the year

As at

31 December

2016

RO ‘000 RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Deferred tax asset/(liability) recognised in 

profit or loss

Property, plant and equipment (12,425) (410) (12,835)

Provision for site restoration           310 (225) 85

Unamortised finance cost        (214) 36 (178)

Losses carried forward         2,041 (661) 1,380

Net deferred tax liability     (10,288) (1,260) (11,548)

Deferred tax asset directly recognised in 

equity

Fair value adjustment of interest rate swap 1,866 (476) 1,390

Deferred tax liability       (8,422) (1,736) (10,158)
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15. Taxation (continued)

Subsidiary – RPC

 (e) Deferred tax liabilities – net

 Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following items:

As at 

1 January

2016

Recognised 

during the 

year

As at

31 December

2016

RO ‘000 RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Deferred tax asset/(liability) recognised in profit 

or loss

Provision for site restoration 156 (216) (60)

Provision against rehabilitation of transformers 4 (4) -

Additional lease income for tax purposes (120) 120 -

Deferred finance costs (23) 4 (19)

Leasehold improvements (76) (29) (105)

Net deferred tax liability (59) (125) (184)

Deferred tax asset directly recognised in equity

Fair value adjustment of interest rate swap 191 (73) 118

Deferred tax asset 132 (198) (66)

 (f) Status of previous years’ income tax returns 

Subsidiary - SMNBPC

 The tax returns of the company for the years 2007 and 2008 have been assessed by the Secretariat 

General for Taxation at the Ministry of Finance in December 2014 and have not resulted in any 

additional tax payable. The tax return for the year 2009 has been assessed by the Secretariat 

General for Taxation in March 2016 and the Company has replied for which a final assessment 

decision is awaited. The tax returns for the years 2010 to 2015 have not yet been assessed by the 

Secretariat General for Taxation at the Ministry of Finance. The management is of the opinion that 

additional taxes, if any, related to the open tax years would not be material to the company’s financial 

position as at the reporting date.



Annual Report 2016 | 83

SMN POWER HOLDING SAOG AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(forming part of the consolidated financial statements)

15. Taxation (continued)

 (f) Status of previous years’ income tax returns (continued)

Subsidiary – RPC 

 The tax return for the year 2007 was assessed by the Tax Department in December 2013. In its 

conclusion, the Tax Department disregarded the finance lease model adopted by RPC (as per the 

requirements of IFRIC 4 - see note 5) and completed the tax assessment on the basis of ‘fixed asset’ 

model allowing depreciation to RPC.

 After filing an objection to the Tax Department which was rejected, RPC proceeded to file an appeal 

in June 2014 to the Tax Committee. On 11 June 2015, the Tax Committee announced its decision 

to accept the RPC’s position and to consider the contractual arrangement of its capital asset as a 

finance lease. However, on 9 August 2015 Tax Department has filed a letter to the Tax Committee 

to rectify the decision. RPC submitted its response to Tax Department’s letter explaining its strong 

technical position. On 21 January 2016, the Tax Committee rejected the Tax Department’s request 

and reiterated its initial position confirming the contractual arrangement as a finance lease.

 The tax returns for the years 2008 and 2009 had also been assessed by the Secretariat General for 

Taxation at the Ministry of Finance on the basis of ‘fixed asset’ model allowing depreciation to RPC. 

RPC formally objected the Tax Department assessment, which was also rejected in December 2014. 

Accordingly, in February 2015, RPC had filed an appeal to the Tax Committee for the years 2008 and 

2009 in line with its position for the year 2007.

 The tax return for the year 2010 has been also assessed by the Secretariat General for Taxation in 

December 2016 at the Ministry of Finance on the basis of ‘fixed asset’ model allowing depreciation 

to the company. The company has formally objected the Tax Department assessment in line with its 

position for the year 2007.

 In light of the positive decision by the Tax Committee for the year 2007, the management is confident 

of a favourable outcome for the years 2008 to 2010. Accordingly, income tax and deferred tax 

continue to be calculated on the basis of the finance lease model.

 The tax returns for the years 2011 to 2015 have not yet been assessed by the Secretariat General 

for Taxation at the Ministry of Finance. The management is of the opinion that additional taxes, if any 

other than discussed above, related to the open tax years would not be material to RPC’s financial 

position as at the reporting date.



84 | Annual Report 2016 

SMN POWER HOLDING SAOG AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016
(forming part of the consolidated financial statements)

16. Provision for site restoration 

31 December

2016

31 December 

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Balance at 1 January 5,743 5,420

Reversal of site restoration provision (4,020) -

Accretion charge for the year (note 21) 338 323

Balance at 31 December 2,061 5,743

 Because of the long term nature of the liability, the cost estimate of the restoration provision is a 

complex process which involves judgments and assumptions. To perform this cost exercise RPC and 

SMNBPC engaged an expert to re-assess its site restoration provision during the year. It has been 

assumed that the site will be retired using technology and material that are currently available. The 

provision has been calculated using a discount rate of 6.1% in RPC and 7.6% in SMNBPC. As a result 

of the reassessment, RPC’s provision decreased by RO 1,985,858 and accordingly such reduction has 

been recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Reduction in SMNBPC’s provision amounted to 

RO 2,033,423. The adjustment has been recorded in accordance with the guidelines of International 

Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee- IFRIC 1 and accordingly a gain of OMR 647,637 has 

been recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

17. Trade and other payables 

31 December

2016

31 December 

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Supplier and contractor payables 2,226 4,099

Accrued expenses 4,290 3,622

Due to related parties (note 22) 2,471 1,216

8,987 8,937

18. Revenue

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

RPC

Finance lease

Fixed operating and maintenance charge 5,261 5,162

Lease interest income 1,182 1,770

6,443 6,932

Electricity energy charges 26,569 51,861

33,012 58,793
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18. Revenue (continued)

SMNBPC

31 December 

2016

31 December 

2015
RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Electricity and water capacity charges 31,970 32,372
Electricity and water energy charges 23,013 18,374

54,983 50,746
87,995 109,539

19.    Operating costs

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Gas consumption 45,422 64,976

Contract fixed fee for plant operations 8,909 8,974

Depreciation (note 8) 7,918 7,913

Contract variable fee for plant operations 3,040 4,474

Insurance 670 816

Contract other fee for plant operations 370 356

Amortisation of leasehold improvement (note 8) 147 149

Fuel oil 133 105

Customs duty 123 109

Generation and license fee 121 62

Amortisation of long term prepayment (note 7) 106 106

Contract incentives for plant operations 57 253

Repair and maintenance 15 24

Reversal of provision against rehabilitation of transformers (37) (43)

66,994 88,274

20. General and administrative expenses

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Staff costs 592 677

Legal and professional charges 267 292

Depreciation (note 8) 31 40

Insurance expenses 26 21

Director’s remuneration and sitting 11 12

Other expenses 90 111

1,017 1,153
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21.  Finance charges      

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Interest rate swap settlement 5,278 6,361

Interest on term loan 3,402 2,679

Gain on re-assessment of site restoration provision (2,634) -

Accretion charge for provision for site restoration (note 16) 338 323

Amortisation of deferred finance cost 336 361

Interest on DSRA LC 47 50

Exchange loss 54 60

Interest income on fixed term deposits (1) (1)

6,820 9,833

22. Related parties

 Related parties comprise the shareholders, directors, key management personnel and business 

entities which have the ability to control or exercise significant influence in financial and operating 

decisions. 

 The Group maintains balances with these related parties which arise in the normal course of business 

from the commercial transactions. Outstanding balances at the reporting year end are unsecured 

and settlement occurs in cash.  

 No expenses have been recognised in the year for bad or doubtful debts in respect of amounts owed 

by related parties (2015: nil).

 SUEZ-Tractebel Operation and Maintenance Oman (STOMO), Kahrabel Operation and Maintenance 

Oman (KOMO), Degremont Middle East (Degremont), Mubadala Development Co (Mubadala), Mirfa 

International Power & Water Company  (Mirfa) and International Power SA are related parties with 

significant shareholder influence. 
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22. Related parties (continued)

 Following is the summary of significant transactions with related parties during the year:

Expenses:  

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

SUEZ-Tractebel Operation and Maintenance Oman LLC 

Operation and maintenance expense - fixed fee 8,885 8,913 

Operation and maintenance expense - variable fee 3,040 4,441 

Operation and maintenance expense - other fees 371 356

Repair cost (capital expenditure) 366 -

Customs duty 60 52

Repair and maintenance 14 14

Contract incentive for plant operations 57 253

12,793 14,029

Kahrabel FZE

Fixed service fee 74 66

Legal fee (32) 22

42 88

Mubadala Development Company

Administrative fee 133 146

Kahrabel Operation and Maintenance Oman 

Administrative fee 85 105

Degremont Middle East LLC

Support service - 6

Key Management benefits

 Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 

directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including any director 

(whether executive or otherwise).

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Employment benefits 218 251

Directors’ remuneration and sitting fee 11 12
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22. Related parties (continued)

Due from related parties:

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

STOMO 32 203

KOMO 21 35

Kahrabel FZE 3 2

Mubadala 6 3

International Power SA 6 -

Barka Seawater Facilities Company SAOC 16 3

84 246

Due to related parties:

STOMO 2,426 1,039

Barka Seawater Facilities Company SAOC 10 -

KOMO 7 27

International Power SA 2 2

Kahrabel FZE 2 31

Mubadala 24 117

2,471 1,216

23. Contingencies and operational commitments

Subsidiary - RPC

	 Environmental	 Permit	 from	Ministry	 of	Environment	 and	Climate	Affairs	 of	 the	Sultanate	 of	 

Oman (MECA)

 At the time of acquisition of the Company by SMN Jafza in 2007, the Authority for Electricity Regulation 

(AER) issued specific recommendations on the environmental monitoring system to be installed at 

the power plant (i.e. the Predictive Emissions Monitoring Systems – PEMS). These recommendations 

were fully implemented by the Company and compliance confirmed by AER as stated in their 2007 

Annual Report.

 RPC was issued with a Preliminary Environmental Permit, which expired on 12 May 2009. Article 

8 of Ministerial Decree (MD) 187/2001 (The Environmental Law and the Regulations for Organising 

the Issuance of Environmental Approvals and Final Environmental Permits) provides that the MECA 

may close down an establishment if it is found to be practicing its activity (i) without environmental 

approval; (ii) without the final environmental permit; or (iii) after the expiry of the environmental 

approval of the final environmental permit (as the case may be). 
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23. Contingencies and operational commitments (continued)

Subsidiary – RPC (continued)

	 Environmental	 Permit	 from	Ministry	 of	Environment	 and	Climate	Affairs	 of	 the	Sultanate	 of	 

Oman (MECA) (continued)

 RPC has been in discussions with MECA regarding the issuance of the Final Environmental Permit 

since the expiry of the Preliminary Environmental Permit. MECA has not issued a Final Environmental 

Permit as it is requiring RPC to implement an alternative monitoring system (i.e. the Continuous 

Emissions Monitoring Systems – CEMS). The Board believes that the PEMS satisfies the requirements 

of environmental monitoring set out in the law and hence that there is no need for the implementation 

of the CEMS. As RPC satisfied all other compliance requirements with the environmental regulations 

(absent clear directives from the MECA at the time of the acquisition), RPC has no reason to believe 

that MECA will take action under MD 187/2001.

 Furthermore, the Board believes that no additional costs would be incurred by the Company for the 

implementation of CEMS and the issuance of Final Environmental Permits as the burden of such 

costs may be recoverable from MECA and/or another counterpart.

Operation and Maintenance commitment

 As per the Operation and Maintenance (O&M) agreement, STOMO operates and maintains the 

Subsidiary’s Plant at Rusail until 31 March 2022. Under the O&M agreement, the Subsidiary has to 

pay the following operating fees:

 •  a fixed monthly fee; and

 •  a variable fee.

 All fees are subject to indexation based on Omani and US Consumer Price Indices.

 The minimum future payments under the O&M agreement (excluding indexation) are as follows:

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Not later than one year 2,427 2,427 

Receivable one to five years 9,908 9,706 

After five years 600 3,033 

12,935 15,166 

Land lease commitments

 Future minimum operating lease commitments under the non-cancellable land sub-lease are (note 5):

Not later than one year 1 1

One to five years 4 4

After five years 8 9

13 14
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23. Contingencies and operational commitments (continued)

Subsidiary – SMNBPC 

 Shared facilities commitment

 With reference to the Shareholders Agreement dated 20 February 2007, ACWA Power Barka SAOG 

(formerly AES Barka) and the Subsidiary committed to establish a shared facility company owned 

50/50 between the above shareholders.

 On 9 March 2009, SMNBPC injected a total of RO 250,000 in a restricted bank account to fund the 

capital of the new company to be named Barka Seawater Facilities Company SAOC (BSFC). 

 On 19 July 2010, SMNBPC and ACWA Power Barka SAOG finalized the incorporation of the Shared 

Facilities Company and conducted the Constitutive General Meeting and the first Board Meeting.

 On 1 October 2014, BSFC acquired the shared facility assets from ACWA Power Barka SAOG and 

commenced commercial operations.

 Operation and Maintenance commitment 

 As per the O&M agreement, STOMO operates and maintains the SMNBPC’s Plant at Barka until 31 

March 2024. Under the O&M agreement, the Subsidiary has to pay the following operating fees:

• a fixed monthly fee;

• a power variable fee; and

• a water variable fee.

 All fees are subject to indexation based on Omani and US Consumer Price Indices.

 The minimum future payments under the O&M agreement considering a COD on 15 November 2009 

(excluding indexation) are as follows:

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO‘000 RO‘000

Not later than one year 4,021 4,021 

Receivable one to five years 16,418 16,083 

After five years 9,147 13,067 

29,586 33,171 
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23. Contingencies and operational commitments (continued)

Subsidiary – SMNBPC (continued)

Land lease commitments

 Future minimum operating lease commitments under the non-cancellable land sub-lease are (note 8):

Not later than one year 1 1

One to five years 4 4

After five years 10 11

15 16

 Financial guarantee (DSRA LC Facility)

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

SMNBPC 8,574 8,405

RPC 1,674 1,709

10,248 10,114 

Bank guarantee received from Doosan

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO‘000 RO‘000

Retention guarantee dated 24 January 2007 with the latest 

amendment dated 27 September 2013 (valid up to 30 June 2017) 1,538 1,538

 Subsequent to the Settlement Agreement with Doosan dated 22 May 2012 (note 2), the EPC 

Performance Bond had been released and the retention guarantee reduced from RO 10.2 million 

to RO 1.9 million on 3 June 2012. Pursuant to the terms of 2nd amendment of EPC agreement, the 

retention guarantee had been further reduced to RO 1.6 million on 27 September 2013. Pursuant to 

the terms of 3rd amendment of EPC agreement, the retention guarantee has been extended up to 30 

June 2017.
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24.  Financial instruments 

 Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting date. Financial assets 

are impaired where there is objective evidence that as a result of one or more events that occurred 

after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment 

have been impacted.

 The classification of financial assets depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were 

acquired.  Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

 The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

• Credit risk

• Liquidity risk

• Market risk

 The Group’s overall risk management focuses on the unpredictability of markets it is potentially 

exposed to and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.  

 Risk management is carried out in order to identify, evaluate, mitigate and monitor financial risks.

(a)  Credit risk

 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial 

instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s receivables 

from customers.

 The potential risk in respect of amounts receivables is limited to their carrying values as management 

regularly reviews these balances whose recoverability is in doubt. 

 The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.  The exposure to 

credit risk at the reporting date was RO 38.1 million (31 December 2015: RO 41.7 million). 

 The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.  The exposure to 

credit risk at the reporting date was on account of:

31 December

2016

31 December

2015
Classified as loans and receivables RO ‘000 RO ‘000
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments and advances) 7,876 8,990
Finance lease receivables 22,947 26,851
Due from related parties 84 246
Cash and bank 7,158 5,616

38,065 41,703

 The exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date was due entirely from OPWP.

 There is no impairment of receivables at the reporting date.

 The allowance account in respect of trade receivables is used to record impairment losses unless 
the Group is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible; at that point the amount 

considered irrecoverable is written-off against allowance account.
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24.  Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

 The table below shows the balances with banks categorised by short-term credit ratings as published 

by Moody’s Investors Service at the reporting date:

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

Bank Rating RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Bank balances

Bank Muscat SAOG P-2 1,717 1,024

HSBC Bank plc P-1 701 13

2,418 1,037

Fixed term deposits

Bank Muscat SAOG P-2 4,738 4,575

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 

due. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have 

sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 

incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. The Group’s access to 

credit facilities is described in note 14. 

 The following are the undiscounted maturities of the financial liabilities

Carrying Undiscounted 

cash flows

6 Months 6 to 12 1 to 2 More than

Amount or less Months years 2 years

Non-Derivatives RO ’000 RO ’000 RO ’000 RO ’000 RO ’000 RO ’000

31 December 2016

Term loans  176,729 (178,353)  (6,088)  (9,133)  (15,980)  (147,152)

Trade and other  

payables

6,516 (6,516) (6,516) - - -

Due to related parties 2,471 (2,471) (2,471) - - -

 185,716  (187,340)  (15,075)  (9,133)  (15,980)  (147,152)

Derivatives 

Interest rate swap 12,573  (12,573)  (1,278)  (1,515)  (3,885)      (5,895)
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24.  Financial instruments (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Carrying

amount

Undiscounted 

cash flows

6 Months

or less

6 to 12

Months

1 to 2

years

More than

2 years

Non-Derivatives RO ’000 RO ’000 RO ’000 RO ’000 RO ’000 RO ’000

31  December 2015

Term loan 190,914  (192,874)  (5,739)  (8,685) (15,221)  (163,229)

Trade and other 

payables

7,721 (7,721)   (7,721) - -                 

-   

Due to related parties 1,216 (1,216)   (1,216) - - -   

199,851  (201,811)  (14,676)  (8,685)  (15,221)  (163,229)

Derivatives 

Interest rate swap 17,153       (17,153)      (1,466)      (2,172)      (4,073)       (9,442)

(c) Market risk 

 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates 

and equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. 

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 

acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

 As of 31 December 2016, the Group does not hold any such financial instruments that have any risk 

of changes in prices for investment in equity instruments.

Currency risk

 Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognised assets or liabilities 

are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. 

 The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency exposures primarily with respect 

to the US Dollar. Management believes that in case US Dollar weaken or strengthen against Rial 

Omani there would be an insignificant impact in the post-tax profit.

Interest rate risk 

 The Group has borrowings which are interest bearing and exposed to changes in market interest 

rates. The Group has hedged this interest rate risk through interest rate swaps. The percentage of 

interest charges hedged is presented below:
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24.  Financial instruments (continued)

(c) Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

(a) In RPC, 100% of the interest charges are hedged for the period from 1 April 2013 to 30 September 

2016, 60%-53% from 1 October 2016 to 30 September 2018 and 50%-0% from 1 October 2018 

onwards.

(b) In SMNBPC, 100% of the interest charges are hedged for the period from 1 April 2013 to 30 

September 2018, 65% from 1 October 2018 onwards.

 The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest bearing financial instruments is disclosed in notes 13 

and 14 to these consolidated financial statements.

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments

 The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 

profit or loss. Therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect profit or loss.

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

 A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would not have a significant impact 

on the equity or the profit or loss at the reporting date mainly as a result of interest rate swaps 

(note 13).

Fair value of financial instruments

 The management believes that the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities are not significantly 

different from their carrying amounts as shown in the financial statements at the reporting date.

 The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to 

initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value 

is observable.

- Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 

markets for identical assets or liabilities.

- Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices 

included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) 

or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
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24.  Financial instruments (continued)

(c) Market risk (continued)

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

 Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for 

the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Level 2 31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Interest rate swap 12,573 17,153

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Term loans 176,729 190,914

 The valuation techniques of the above financial liabilities are disclosed in note 4.

 There are no financial assets at fair value at the reporting date. Further, there were no transfers 

between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the year.

Capital management

 The Group’s policy is to maintain an optimum capital base to maintain investor, creditor and market 

confidence to sustain future growth of business as well as achieve appropriate return on capital.

 The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern, so that it can provide adequate returns to members and benefits for other 

stakeholders by pricing the services commensurate to the level of risk. The Group sets the amount 

of capital in proportion to risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it 

in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In 

order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid 

to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt.

 Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio 

(net debt to total equity):

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Debt (Long-term loans) 176,729 190,914 

Equity (Shareholders’ funds) 36,650 32,279

Debt to equity ratio (times) 4.82         5.91 
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25. Operating lease agreement for which a subsidiary (SMNBPC) acts as a lessor

 SMNBPC has entered into a PWPA with OPWP for a substantial element of the production of power 

and water with 100% ‘take-or-pay’ clauses in favour of the subsidiary.

 Management has determined that the take-or-pay arrangements with OPWP under PWPA are 

covered by International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee - Determining whether an 

Arrangement contains a Lease (IFRIC 4) as such arrangements convey the right to use the assets. 

Management further determined that such arrangement in substance represents an operating lease 

under IAS-17 Leases. The lease commenced on 15 November, 2009.

 The following is the total of future minimum lease receipts expected to be received under PWPA, 

excluding indexation:

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Due:

Not later than one year 25,474 25,543 

Later than one year and not later than five years 101,936 101,936 

Later than five years 85,819 98,448 

 213,229 225,927 

26. Embedded derivatives

 The PPA, PWPA and the O&M Agreement for RPC and SMNBPC contain embedded derivatives in the 

form of price adjustments for inflation based on changes in the Unites States and Omani Consumer 

Price Indices.

 These embedded derivatives are not separated from the host contracts and not accounted for as 

stand-alone derivatives under IAS 39, as the Management believes that the economic characteristics 

and risks associated with the embedded derivatives are closely related to those of the host contracts.

27. Net assets per share

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Net assets - Shareholders’ funds  (RO ‘000) 36,650 32,279

Number of shares outstanding during the year (‘000) 199,636 199,636

Net asset per share (RO) 0.184 0.162
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28. Basic and diluted earnings per share

 Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit for the year by the weighted 

average number of shares outstanding during the year.

31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO ‘000 RO ‘000

Profit for the year (RO ‘000) 11,758 9,020

Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year (‘000) 199,636 199,636

Earnings per share - basic and diluted (RO) 0.059 0.045

Since the Company has no potentially dilutive instruments, the basic and dilutive earnings per share 

are same.

29. Segmental reporting

 The company has only one segment in accordance with IFRS 8. Segment information is, accordingly, 

presented in respect of the company’s business segments. The primary format, business segments, 

is based on the company’s management and internal reporting structure. The requirements of IFRS 

8, paragraphs 31 to 34 relating to entity wide disclosures has been covered under consolidated 

statements of financial position, profit and loss and other comprehensive income and also in notes 1, 

2 and 19 to these consolidated financial statements.

Independent auditor’s report - pages 41-46
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31 December

2016

31 December 

2015

RO ’000 RO ’000

ASSETS 

Non-current assets 

Investment in subsidiaries 19,303 19,303

Current assets

Loan to a subsidiary  8,102 8,102

Prepayments 3 -

Due from related parties 68 27

Cash and cash equivalents 26 116

8,199 8,245

Total assets 27,502 27,548

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

EQUITY

Capital and reserves

Share capital 19,964 19,964

Legal reserves 5,491 4,757

Retained earnings 2,036 2,813

Shareholders’ funds and total equity 27,491 27,534

LIABILITIES  

Current liabilities

Other payables 11 9

Due to related parties - 5

Total liabilities 11 14

Total equity and liabilities 27,502 27,548

Net assets per share (RO) 0.138 0.138
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31 December

2016

31 December

2015

RO ’000 RO ’000

Investment income 7,414 8,922

General and administrative expenses (70) (78)

Net profit and total comprehensive income for the year 7,344 8,844

Basic earnings per share (RO) 0.037  0.044
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 Share 

capital

Legal

reserve

Retained

earnings Total

 RO ’000 RO ’000 RO ’000 RO ’000

 

At 1 January 2015 19,964 3,872 3,638 27,474

Net profit and total comprehensive 

income for the year

- - 8,844 8,844

Transactions with owners 

recognised directly in equity

Dividend paid - - (8,784) (8,784)

Transferred to legal reserve - 885 (885) -

At 31 December 2015 19,964 4,757 2,813 27,534

At 1 January 2016 19,964 4,757 2,813 27,534

Net profit and total comprehensive 

income for the year

- - 7,344 7,344

Transactions with owners 

recognised directly in equity

Dividend paid - - (7,387) (7,387)

Transferred to legal reserve - 734 (734) -

At 31 December 2016 19,964 5,491 2,036 27,491
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2016 2015

RO ’000 RO ’000

Operating activities

 Profit before tax 7,344 8,844

Working capital changes:

 Other receivables (44) 1

 Other payables (3) 2

Net cash generated from operating activities 7,297 8,847

Financing activities

Dividend paid (7,387) (8,784)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (90) 63

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 116 53

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 26 116


